
MEETING NOTICE 

BRAZORIA DRAINAGE DISTRICT NO. 4 BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 

Notice is hereby given, the Regular Meeting of Brazoria Drainage District Number 4 
Commissioners will be held June 2, 2020 at 9:00 A.M. by telephone conference call.  Members of 
the public may access the meeting by following the instructions listed at the bottom of this notice. 

At said meeting, the Commissioners may deliberate, discuss, consider and/or take action on any 
or all of the following items: 

AGENDA 

 

I. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

II. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 

III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
 
Regular Meeting – May 5, 2020 
 

IV. APPROVAL OF CHECKS: 
 
Expenses for June and July 2020 
 

V. NEW BUSINESS: 
 
A. Discussion, Consideration & Possible Action – To accept the Single Audit 

Report for the Mykawa drainage project as prepared by McGrath & Co., PLLC – 
CPAs. 
 

B. Discussion, Consideration & Possible Action – To authorize the Superintendent 
to negotiate, make an offer, and sign all documents for the purchase of 20.03 
acres of land located on Clear Creek at Countryplace Ditch. 

 
C. Discussion, Consideration & Possible Action – To authorize the Superintendent 

to negotiate, make an offer, and sign all documents for the purchase of 14.2487 
acres of land on Clear Creek, west of Roy Road and East of Sheldon Road. 

 
 
 

1



VI. VARIANCE REQUESTS – APPROVAL: 
 

A. Charleston Ultimate Detention – BDD4 #20149 – Variance Request – Odyssey 
Engineering Group – North of SH 6; 2 miles west of CR 48 on the Brazoria 
County/Fort Bend County border. 

1. Variance Request #1: A deviation from our standard sheet size of 22”x34” to 
24”x36”. 

2. Variance Request #2: The allowance of a tree buffer along the eastern edge of the 
detention pond maintenance pond due to an executed development agreement with 
the City of Pearland. 

3. Variance Request #3: The allowance for 3:1 slopes instead of our required 4:1 
slopes in the wet portion of the detention basin only. 

 
B. Development Plat of Segenhof – BDD4 #20145 – Variance Request – Kristofer 

Schoeffler – Immediately west of the intersection of Roy Rd. & Hickory Slough. 
1. Variance Request: To allow a 30’ drainage easement from the centerline of Hickory 

Slough instead of the required 170’. 
 

VII. PLATS & PLANS – APPROVAL: 
 

A. Manvel Town Center Waterline Interconnect – BDD4 #20122 – Final Drainage 
Plan – BGE, Inc. – Northwest intersection at SH 288 and SH 6. 

 
B. C-Store (JT Plaza III) – BDD4 #20160 – Final Plat – Doshi Engineering & 

Surveying Co. – 7514 Fite Rd.; between Oak Rd. & CR 389. 
 
C. Menon Enclave – BDD4 #20153 – Final Plat – Windrose Land Services – South 

of Amie Ln., west of McLean Rd. 
 
D. Southern Colony II Phase I Detention – BDD4 #20101 – Final Drainage Plan – 

LJA Engineering, Inc. – Near FM 521, south of SH 6; directly north of Southern 
Colony Development. 

 
E. Greenspace Self Storage – BDD4 #20161 – Final Drainage Plan – GPD Group – 

Southeast corner of Kingsley Dr. & Shadow Creek Pkwy. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2



VIII. ADJOURN 

 

ITEMS WILL NOT NECESSARILY BE PRESENTED IN THE ORDER THEY ARE POSTED. 

POSTED THIS   28th day of   May 2020 at   2:00 O’CLOCK   PM. 

This site is accessible to disabled individuals. 

Instructions for accessing telephone conference call:  

On March 16, 2020, in accordance with section 418.016 of the Texas Government 
Code, Governor Abbott has suspended various provisions of the Texas Open Meetings Act that 
require government officials and members of the public to be physically present at a specified 
meeting location (the “Proclamation”). In accordance with the Proclamation, the District has 
implemented procedures to allow members of the public to participate and address the Board of 
Directors during the telephone conference meeting.  To participate in the telephone conference 
meeting: 

1.  Please call 832-481-6949 to access the meeting and announce your name to the meeting host.   

2. The agenda packet will be available at the following web site:  

    https://bdd4.org/events/june-agenda-meeting-2/ 

3.  The audio of the meeting will be recorded. 

3



1 of 4 (05-05-2020) 
 

 
 
 
 
Regular Meeting        May 5, 2020 
No. 5          9:02 AM 
 
 
Commissioners of Brazoria Drainage District No. 4 convened in session May 5, 2020 with the 
following Commissioners present: 
 
Jeffrey H. Brennan   Dan Keller    *Harrison Rogers 
                   *via conference call 
 
Others Attending: 
 
See Attached List 
  
Following the invocation and Pledge of Allegiance, the Board considered the following items: 

 
 

II. PUBLIC COMMENTS: 
 
None 
 

III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
 

Regular Meeting – April 7, 2020 
 
Motion: Commissioner Brennan; Second: Commissioner Keller; To approve the minutes 
as submitted.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 

IV. APPROVAL OF CHECKS: 
 
Expenses for May 2020 and June 2020 

 
Motion: Commissioner Brennan; Second: Commissioner Keller; To approve the checks 
numbered 38361 – 38433.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 

V. NEW BUSINESS: 
 

A. Discussion, Consideration & Possible Action – To accept a 0.125 acre Drainage 
Easement from Lucas Properties and Investments, LLC on Hickory Slough for the 
Pearland Industrial Park project (BDD4 #19184). 

 

Item III. 4



2 of 4 (05-05-2020) 
 

Motion: Commissioner Brennan; Second: Commissioner Keller; To accept a 0.125 acre 
Drainage Easement from Lucas Properties and Investments, LLC on Hickory Slough for 
the Pearland Industrial Park project (BDD4 #19184).  Motion carried unanimously. 

B. Discussion, Consideration & Possible Action – To dedicate a 5’ utility easement for 
natural gas only within District Right of Way adjacent to Midtown at Magnolia as 
requested by Gehan Homes and to allow the District’s attorney to draft utility 
easement documents. 

Motion: Commissioner Brennan; Second: Commissioner Keller; To dedicate a 5’ utility 
easement for natural gas only within District Right of Way adjacent to Midtown at 
Magnolia as requested by Gehan Homes and to allow the District’s attorney to draft 
utility easement documents.  Motion carried unanimously. 

C. Discussion, Consideration & Possible Action – To accept, approve and authorize 
the Chairman to sign the annual financial audit for the fiscal year ending September 
30, 2019, as prepared by McGrath & Co., PLLC – CPAs. 

Motion: Commissioner Brennan; Second: Commissioner Keller; To accept, approve, 
enter into the records of the District, and authorize the Chairman to sign the annual 
financial audit for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2019, as prepared by McGrath & 
Co., PLLC – CPAs.  Motion carried unanimously.  

VI. VARIANCE REQUESTS – APPROVAL: 
 

A. United Analytical – BDD4 #20146 – Variance Request – Daniel Scott Engineering, 
LLC – 17803 CR 127. 
1. Variance Request – A reduction of the outfall flowline from 12” to 6”. 

 
Motion: Commissioner Brennan; Second: Commissioner Keller; To approve the variance 
request for the United Analytical project requested by Daniel Scott Engineering, LLC 
based on the recommendation of Jarrod Aden, P.E., Lentz Engineering, District Engineer.  
Motion carried unanimously. 

B. Pomona Big Island Lake – BDD4 #20124 – Variance Request – LJA Engineering, Inc. 
– North of Big Island Dr. near the intersection of SH 288 and Mustang Bayou. 
1. Variance Request – An allowance of a material other than concrete for the 

overflow swale. 

Motion: Commissioner Brennan; Second: Commissioner Keller; To approve the variance 
request for the Pomona Big Island Lake project requested by LJA Engineering, Inc. based 
on the recommendation of Jarrod Aden, P.E., Lentz Engineering, District Engineer.  
Motion carried unanimously. 
 

Item III. 5



3 of 4 (05-05-2020) 
 

VII. PLATS & PLANS – APPROVAL: 
 

A. Manvel Town Center-Phase 1A – BDD4 #19196 – Final Drainage Plan – BGE, Inc. – 
Northwest intersection of SH 288 and SH 6. 
 

B. Pearland Industrial Park – BDD4 #19184 – Final Plat – RSG Engineering – 
Southwest of the intersection between McHard Rd. and Hwy 35. 

 
C. The Mansion at Southfork – BDD4 #18152 – Final Drainage Plan – Trinity Bay 

Engineering, LLC – 2354 CR 59. 
 
D. Pearland Surface Water Treatment Plant – BDD4 #20121 – Drainage Impact Analysis 

– Freese and Nichols, Inc. – CR 48 just north of Mustang Bayou. 
 
E. 4303 Chance Lane – BDD4 #20147 – Final Drainage Plan – Daniel Scott 

Engineering, LLC – 4303 Chance Ln. 
 
F. Pomona Section 17 – BDD4 #20151 – Final Plat – LJA Engineering, Inc. – West of 

Hwy 288, north of CR 58 in the Pomona Subdivision. 
 
G. Pearland Surface Water Treatment Plant – BDD4 #20118 – Final Plat – C.L. Davis & 

Company – CR 48 just north of Mustang Bayou. 
 
H. Metro Ready Mix – BDD4 #19189 – Final Drainage Plan – Trihawk Construction, 

LLC – 6420 Brookside Dr. 
 
I. Airpark Estates Section 6 – BDD4 #20150 – Final Plat – Gormly Surveying, Inc. – 

Northwest intersection of CR 127 & CR 130. 
 
J. AutoZone – BDD4 #20110 – Final Drainage Plan – ALJ Lindsey, LLC – Southeast of 

the intersection of CR 59 and Kirby; south side of CR 59. 
 
K. Pomona Big Island Lake – BDD4 #20124 – Final Drainage Plan – LJA Engineering, 

Inc. – North of Big Island Dr. near the intersection of SH 288 and Mustang Bayou. 
 
L. Pomona Section 17 – BDD4 #20148 – Final Drainage Plan – LJA Engineering, Inc. – 

West of Hwy 288, north of CR 58 in the Pomona Subdivision. 
 
M. Shadow Creek Access Drive – BDD4 #19143 – Final Drainage Plan – ALJ Lindsey, 

LLC – Southeast corner of Shadow Creek Parkway and Kingsley Drive. 
 
N. United Analytical – BDD4 #20146 – Final Drainage Plans – Daniel Scott 

Engineering, LLC – 17803 CR 127. 

Item III. 6



4 of 4 (05-05-2020) 
 

Motion: Commissioner Brennan; Second: Commissioner Keller; To approve the plats and 
plans as submitted based on the recommendation of Jarrod Aden, P.E., Lentz Engineering, 
District Engineer. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
 
VIII. ADJOURN: 

 
No further business, the meeting adjourned at 9:49 A.M., May 5, 2020.  
 

 
 

______________________________ 
        Jeffrey H. Brennan, Chairman 
 
 
        ______________________________ 
        Dan Keller, Secretary 
 
 
        ______________________________ 
        Harrison Rogers 

Item III. 7



Item III. 8



 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BRAZORIA DRAINAGE DISTRICT NO. 4  
 

BRAZORIA COUNTY, TEXAS 
 

SINGLE AUDIT REPORT 
 

September 30, 2019 

Item V.A. 9



 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Item V.A. 10



 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

--oo0oo-- 
 
 

Table of Contents 
 
  Page 
 
 
Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements 
Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards  1 

 
Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance for Each Major Program and on   

Internal Control Over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance 3 
 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs  
 I.     Summary of Auditors’ Reports 6 
 II    Financial Statement Findings 7 
 III   Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs 8 
 
 

Item V.A. 11



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

McGrath & Co., PLLC 
Certified Public Accountants 

P.O. Box 270148 
Houston, Texas 77277 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Mark W. McGrath, CPA 
mark@mcgrath-co.com 

Colette M. Garcia, CPA 
colette@mcgrath-co.com 

Tayo Ilori, CPA, CFE 
tayo@mcgrath-co.com 

Crystal V. Horn, CPA 
crystal@mcgrath-co.com 

 
1 

 

Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on  
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed 

in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards  
 
Board of Directors  
Brazoria Drainage District No. 4 
Harris County, Texas  
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the 
governmental activities and General Fund of Brazoria Drainage District No. 4 (the “District”), as of 
and for the year ended September 30, 2019, and the related notes to the financial statements, which 
collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon 
dated May 5, 2020. 
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the District’s 
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s 
internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, 
or detect and correct, misstatements, on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and 
corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention 
by those charged with governance.  
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of 
this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or, significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify 
any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. We did identify a 
deficiency in internal control described in the accompanying Schedule of Findings and Questioned 
Costs as item 2019-001 that we consider to be a significant deficiency.  

Item V.A. 12



Board	of	Directors	
Brazoria	Drainage	District	No.	4	
Page	2	of	2	
 
 

 
2 

 

Compliance and Other Matters  
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District’s financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion 
on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not 
express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other 
matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Management’s Response to Findings 
 
The District’s response to the findings identified in our audit are described in the accompanying 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs. The District’s response was not subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no 
opinion on it.  
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 

 
 
 
Houston, Texas  
May 5, 2020 

Item V.A. 13



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

McGrath & Co., PLLC 
Certified Public Accountants 

P.O. Box 270148 
Houston, Texas 77277 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Mark W. McGrath, CPA 
mark@mcgrath-co.com 

Colette M. Garcia, CPA 
colette@mcgrath-co.com 

Tayo Ilori, CPA, CFE 
tayo@mcgrath-co.com 

Crystal V. Horn, CPA 
crystal@mcgrath-co.com 

 
3 

 

Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance for 
 Each Major Program and on Internal Control Over  

Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance 
 

Board of Directors 
Brazoria Drainage District No. 4 
Harris County, Texas 
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 
 
We have audited Brazoria Drainage District No. 4’s (the “District”) compliance with the types of 
compliance requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct 
and material effect on each of the District’s major federal programs for the year ended September 30, 
2019. The District’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section 
of the accompanying Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs. 
 
Management’s Responsibility 
 
Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and 
conditions of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the District’s major federal 
programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We 
conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States;  and the audit 
requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, 
Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Those standards and the 
Uniform Guidance require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could 
have a direct and material effect on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, 
on a test basis, evidence about the District’s compliance with those requirements and performing 
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 
 
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major 
federal program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the District’s 
compliance. 
 

Item V.A. 14



Board of Directors 
Brazoria Drainage District No. 4 
Page 2 of 2 
	
 
 

 
4 

 

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
 
In our opinion, the District complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance 
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major 
federal programs for the year ended September 30, 2019. 
 
Report on Internal Control over Compliance  
 
Management of the District is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control 
over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and 
performing our audit of compliance, we considered the District’s internal control over compliance 
with the types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal 
program to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for each major federal program and to test and 
report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control 
over compliance. 
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their 
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance 
is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there 
is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant 
deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less 
severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit 
attention by those charged with governance.  
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control 
over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and, therefore, 
material weaknesses and significant deficiencies may exist that have not been identified. We did not 
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material 
weaknesses. We did identify a deficiency in internal control over compliance as described in the 
accompanying Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs as item 2019-002 that we consider to be 
a significant deficiency. 
 
The District’s response to the findings identified in our audit are described in the accompanying 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs. The District’s response was not subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no 
opinion on it.  

Item V.A. 15



Board of Directors 
Brazoria Drainage District No. 4 
Page 2 of 2 
	
 
 

 
5 

 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements 
of the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.  
 

 
 
Houston, Texas 
May 5, 2020 

Item V.A. 16



Brazoria	Drainage	District	No.	4	
Schedule	of	Findings	and	Questioned	Costs	
For	the	Year	Ended	September	30,	2019	
 
 
 

 
6 

 

I. Summary of Auditors’ Results 
 

Financial Statements 
 

Type of auditors’ report issued      Unmodified 
 

Internal control over financial reporting: 
  Material weaknesses identified?    No 
  Significant deficiencies identified?    Yes 
 

Noncompliance material to the financial statements noted?  No 
 

Federal Awards 
 

Internal controls over major programs: 
  Material weaknesses identified?    No 
  Significant deficiencies identified?    Yes 
 
 Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major programs: Unmodified 
 
 Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in  

accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a)    Yes 
 
Identification of Major Programs: 

 
 CFDA Number  Name of Federal Program   
 97.029    Flood Mitigation Assistance Program 
    

 
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A   $750,000 
 and type B programs: 
 
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?     No 

 
 

Item V.A. 17



Brazoria	Drainage	District	No.	4	
Schedule	of	Findings	and	Questioned	Costs	
September	30,	2019	
 
 
 

 
7 

 

II. Financial Statement Findings  
 
Finding 2019-001 – Bank Reconciliations. 
 
Criteria: 
 
Bank reconciliations are an important control to safeguard cash against fraud and loss and to ensure 
the accuracy of accounting records. Bank reconciliations should be prepared and reviewed each 
month in a timely manner to reduce the risk of fraudulent bank activity or errors going undetected.   
 
Condition: 
 
During our testing, we noted that the bank reconciliation for the month of September 2019 was not 
completed until January 21, 2020, almost four months after the end of the fiscal year.  We inspected 
bank reconciliations for several other months and noted that they were consistently completed 
several months late.  We also noted that there was no evidence that the bank reconciliations were 
reviewed.  
 
Cause: 
 
Internal controls do not include procedures to ensure that bank reconciliations are completed and 
reviewed in a timely manner. 
 
Effect: 
 
Failure to perform timely bank reconciliations increases the risk of fraudulent bank activity or bank 
errors going undetected and could result in the misappropriation of cash.  
 
Recommendation: 
 
We recommend that the District implement internal controls associated with the preparation and 
review of bank reconciliations that will ensure reconciliations are prepared and reviewed within 30 
days of month end.   
 
View of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Action: 
 
John Genaro, District Superintendent, concurs with the finding and has established procedures to 
ensure that bank reconciliations are performed within 30 days of the end of the month, to ensure 
compliance and reduce the risk of fraudulent bank activity or errors. 
 

Item V.A. 18



Brazoria	Drainage	District	No.	4	
Schedule	of	Findings	and	Questioned	Costs	
September	30,	2019	
 
 
 

 
8 

 

III.  Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs 

Finding 2019-002 – Policy on Determination of Allowable Costs. 
 

Criteria:  
 
OMB Uniform Guidance (2 CFR 200.302(b)(7)) requires that recipients of federal awards have 
written policies and procedures for the determination of allowable costs in accordance with Subpart 
E – Cost Principles.   
 
Condition 
 
During our audit, we noted that the District’s written procedures over purchasing and disbursements 
do not include specific guidance on the determination of allowable costs as required by the Uniform 
Guidance. 
 
Cause    
 
The District’s procedures did not ensure the required written procedures were developed and 
implemented in accordance with the Uniform Guidance.  
 
Effect 
 
The District has not complied with the specific requirements for written procedures over allowable 
costs as described in the Uniform Guidance.  
 
Questioned Costs 
 
None noted. 
 
Recommendation 
 
We recommend that the District revise its written policies and procedures to provide guidance for 
the determination of allowable costs in accordance with Subpart E – Cost Principles of the Uniform 
Guidance.    
 
Management’s Views and Corrective Action Plan 
 
John Genaro, District Superintendent, concurs with the finding and has reviewed and modified the 
District’s written procedures over purchasing and disbursements to include specific guidance on the 
determination of allowable costs as required by the Uniform Guidance (2 CFR 200.302(b)(7)), 
Subpart E – Cost Principles. 
 
 

Item V.A. 19



4813 W. Broadway                                                                                            Fax (281) 4850065                                                
Pearland, Texas 77581                        www.bdd4.org 

(281) 485-1434                                                              

                           

Brazoria Drainage District No. 4 
____________________________________________________________________________________________  

A Political Subdivision of the State of Texas 

 
 

 
 
May 26, 2020 
 
 
 
Board of Commissioners 
Brazoria Drainage District No. 4 
4813 W Broadway St. 
Pearland, Texas  77581 
 
Re: Property Acquisition- 20.03 Acres of land located on Clear Creek adjacent to Countryplace Ditch, 
west of Cullen Boulevard.  
 
Dear Commissioners, 
 
The appraisal report for the above mentioned tract of land is included for review. The findings of this 
report estimate the value of this property to be $2.2 million at the time of the report dated April 8, 
2016. The land is currently for sale on the open market for $2.5 million.  
 
In discussions between the owner and the District, the owner is willing to accept a sales price of $2.2 
million for the 20.03 acre tract if purchased concurrently with the 14.2487 acre tract located on Clear 
Creek in Brookside Village, west of Roy Road and east of Sheldon Road also offered for sale.  
 
 
District staff recommends the purchase of this property for much needed right of way and detention 
improvements to the Clear Creek watershed.   
 
Thank you, 
 

John Genaro 
 
John Genaro 

 

Item V.B. 20



Item V.B. 21



APPRAISAL AND RESTRICTED REPORT 
OF REAL PROPERTY 

An effectively vacant unimproved property  
20.03 acre tract of land 
110 Cullen Boulevard 

Pearland, Texas, 77581 

Item V.B. 22



APPRAISAL AND RESTRICTED REPORT 
OF REAL PROPERTY 

An effectively vacant unimproved property  
20.03 acre tract of land
110 Cullen Boulevard 

Pearland, Texas, 77581 

PREPARED FOR 

Mohsin Rasheed 
Taha Development LLC

3618 Flannery Ridge lane 
Houston, Texas 77047 

832-922-7951

PREPARED BY: 

THE MURPHY APPRAISAL GROUP, LLC 
9219 Katy Freeway, Suite 195 

Houston, Texas 77024 
713-468-6819

Fax 713-463-9885 
E-mail wmurphy@murphyappraisalgroup.com

Item V.B. 23



THE MURPHY APPRAISAL GROUP, LLC 
Real Estate Appraisers  

9219 Katy Freeway, Suite 195 
Houston, Texas 77024 

713-468-6819 
Fax 713-463-9885 

E-mail wmurphy@murphyappraisalgroup.com

April 8, 2016 

Mohsin Rasheed
Taha Development LLC 
3618 Flannery Ridge lane
Houston, Texas 77047
832-922-7951 

 Re: 110 Cullen Boulevard, Brazoria County, Pearland, Texas 77581

Dear Mr. Rasheed: 

At your request, we have prepared an appraisal of the above referenced property. The use of this 
appraisal is restricted to the named client for his exclusive use. We completed an investigation 
and analysis of the above referenced property for the purpose of estimating the current Market 
Value of the Fee Simple Estate in as is condition as of April 3, 2016 the current effective date of 
the appraisal. The site visit of the subject property was on April 3, 2016. The date of the report is 
April 8, 2016.

The physical site visit of the property, and the analysis that forms the basis for our value 
conclusions was made by the undersigned. Employment of the appraiser was not conditioned 
upon the appraisal producing a minimum valuation, specific valuation, or approval of a loan.  
Furthermore, it has been our intention to prepare this report in conformity with the Uniform 
Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) as promulgated by the Appraisal 
Foundation.  Per prior agreement, this is an Appraisal Restricted Report that is intended to 
comply with the reporting requirements set forth under Standards Rule 2-2 of USPAP for a 
Restricted Appraisal Report.  

The property consists of a 20.03-acre tract with no improvements that contribute to value and no
paving. The subject property is effectively vacant unimproved land  based on the site inspection 
and BCAD records. The subject property that is currently considered as effectively vacant 
unimproved land  that is typical for the area. The property address is 110 Cullen Boulevard,
Pearland, Texas, Texas 77581.  The property is being appraised in the as is condition with a 
current effective date of April 3, 2016. The property has access from on 110 Cullen Boulevard
and it has access from the west side of Cullen just south of the Sam Houston Parkway and is 
just south of the Sam Houston Parkway  in Pearland, Texas 77581. The property is in the 
Houston Metro area and is in the Pearland area of the Houston Metro area. The site is an 
irregular shaped site and is typical for the area. The current investment use of the property is the 
highest and best use of the site at this time. The Highest and Best use of the property is to 
continue to hold for investment purposes and to eventually development with a residential, 
recreational or special purpose use or other feasible similar compatible use.   

Item V.B. 24



We are not qualified to detect or identify hazardous substances that may or may not be present on, 
near or in this property.  We have valued the property assuming that no environmental hazards 
exist, and reserve the right to modify our conclusion upon receipt of a recent environmental 
study.  

Attached is our Appraisal and Restricted Report together with our Certification and Assumptions 
of Limiting Conditions, which describe our investigation and the analysis upon which we based 
our opinion.  The Direct Sales Approach was necessary for a credible assignment result and was 
developed for the purpose of this restricted appraisal report. 

Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning and analyses is retained in the 
appraiser's file and must be reviewed for a comprehensive understanding of this appraisal.  The 
information contained in this report is specific to the needs of the client and for the intended use 
stated in this report. 

My opinion of the current Market Value of the Fee Simple Estate of the property as of April 3, 
2016 the current effective date and based on the limiting conditions of this appraisal is: 

TWO MILLION TWO HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS 
$2,200,000

The property is reported not to be under contract and was not  listed on MLS. The property has 
not sold or been effectively listed in the last three years according to the owner.   

Considering the conditions surrounding the local market, a typical exposure and marketing period 
of twelve months would likely be required to achieve our estimate of market value. 

Respectfully submitted, 

THE MURPHY APPRAISAL GROUP, LLC

_______________________________ 
William R. Murphy MAI SRA CCIM 

Item V.B. 25



STATEMENT OF ASSUMPTIONS, LIMITING CONDITIONS, AND CERTIFICATION 

1. This is a Restricted Use Appraisal Report, which is intended to comply with the reporting 
requirements set forth under Standard Rule 2-2 of the Uniform Standards of Professional 
Appraisal Practice for a Restricted Appraisal Report.  As such, it does not include discussions of 
the data, reasoning, and analyses that were used in the appraisal process to develop the appraiser's 
opinion of value.  Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning and analyses is 
retained in the appraiser's file and must be reviewed for a comprehensive understanding of this 
appraisal.  The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the client 
and for the intended use stated in this report. This report is restricted to the use of our client. 
The appraiser is not responsible for unauthorized use of this report. 

2. No survey of the subject property was undertaken and the appraiser(s) assumes no 
responsibility associated with such matters. 

3. The value estimate assumes responsible ownership and competent management.  The 
subject property is assumed to be free and clear of all liens, except as may be otherwise herein 
described.  No responsibility is assumed by the appraiser(s) for matters legal in character, nor is 
any opinion on the title is rendered, which is presumed to be good and marketable. 

4. The information contained herein has been gathered from sources deemed to be reliable 
but the appraiser(s) assumes no responsibility for its accuracy.  Correctness of estimates, 
opinions, dimensions, sketches and other exhibits that have been furnished and have been used in 
this report are not guaranteed. 

5. The value estimate rendered herein is considered reliable and valid only as of the date of 
the appraisal, due to rapid changes in the external factors that can significantly affect the property 
value.  The final estimate of market value is expressed in terms of the current purchasing power 
of the dollar. 

6. Any leased, agreements or other written or verbal representations and/or communications 
and information received by the appraiser(s) have been reasonably relied upon in good faith but 
have not been analyzed for their legal implications.  We urge and caution the user of this report to 
obtain legal counsel of his or her own choice to review the legal and factual matters, and to verify 
and analyze the underlying facts and merits of any investment decision in a reasonably prudent 
manner.

7. We assume no responsibility for any hidden agreements known as "side letters", which 
may, or may not, exist relative to this property, which have not been made known to us, unless 
specifically acknowledged within this report. 

8. This report is to be used in whole and not in part.  Any separate valuation for land and 
improvements shall not be used in conjunction with any other appraisal and is invalid if so used.  
Possession of this report or any copy thereof does not carry with it the right of publication nor 
may the same be used for any purpose by anyone but the client without the previous written 
consent of the appraiser(s), and in any event, only in its entirety. 

Item V.B. 26



9. The appraiser(s) here, by reason of this report, are not required to give testimony in court 
with reference to the property appraised unless notice and proper arrangements have been 
previously made therefore. 

10. Neither all nor any part of the contents of this report shall be conveyed to the public 
through advertising, public relations, news, sales, or other media without prior written consent 
and approval of the author, particularly but not exclusively as to the firm with which he or she is 
connected, or any reference to the following: Appraisal Institute, American Institute of Real 
Estate Appraisers, the Society of Real Estate Appraisers, Member Appraisal Institute (MAI) or 
Senior Real Property Appraiser (SRPA) designations. 

11. No subsoil data or analysis based on engineering core boring or other tests were furnished 
to us.  We have assumed that there are no subsoil defects present that would impair development 
of the land to its maximum permitted use, or would render it more or less valuable.  No 
responsibility is assumed for engineering, which might be required to discover such factors. 

12. The construction and physical condition of the improvements described herein are based 
on visual inspection, unless otherwise stated.  No liability is assumed by the appraiser(s) for the 
soundness of structural members since no engineering tests were conducted.  No liability is 
assumed for the condition or adequacy of mechanical equipment, plumbing, or electrical 
components.  No responsibility is assumed for engineering, which might be required to discover 
such factors.  We urge the user of this report to retain an expert in this field. 

 13. Unless otherwise stated in this report, the existence of hazardous substances, including 
without limitation, asbestos, polychlorinated biphenyls, petroleum leakage, or agricultural 
chemicals, which may or may not be present on the property, or other environmental conditions, 
were not called to the attention or nor did the appraiser(s) become aware of such during the 
appraiser's inspection.  The appraiser(s) has no knowledge of the existence of such materials on 
or in the property unless otherwise stated.  The appraiser(s), however, is not qualified to test such 
substances or conditions.  If the presence of such substances, such as asbestos, urea 
formaldehyde, foam insulation, or other hazardous substances or environmental conditions, may 
affect the value of the property, the value estimate is predicated on the assumption that there is no 
such condition on or in the property or in such proximity thereto that it would cause a loss in 
value.  No responsibility is assumed for any such conditions, nor for any expertise or engineering 
knowledge required to detect or discover them.  We urge the user of this report to retain an expert 
in the field of environmental impacts on real estate. 

14. The projections of income, expenses, terminal values or future sales prices are not 
predictions of the future.  Rather, they are the best estimate of current market thinking of what 
future trends will be.  No warranty or representation is made that these projections will 
materialize.  The real estate market is constantly fluctuating and changing.  It is not the task of the 
appraiser(s) to estimate the conditions of a future real estate market, but rather to reflect what the 
investment community envisions for the future, and upon what assumptions of the future 
investment decisions are based. 

15. The client or user of this report agrees to notify the appraiser(s) of any error, omission, 

Item V.B. 27



or inaccurate data in the report within 15 days of receipt, and return the report and all 
copies of the report to the appraiser(s) for correction prior to any use. 

16. The acceptance of this report, and its subsequent use by the client or any other party in 
any manner whatsoever or for any purpose, is acknowledgment by the user that the entire report 
has been read, and specifically agrees that the data and analysis, to their knowledge, are correct 
and acceptable. 

Item V.B. 28



CERTIFICATION OF APPRAISAL

We certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief,... 

1. The statements of fact contained in the appraisal report, upon which the analyses, 
opinions and conclusions expressed herein are based, are true and correct. 

2. The reported analyses, opinions and conclusions are limited only by the report 
assumptions and limiting conditions, and our personal, unbiased professional analyses, 
opinions and conclusions. 

3. We have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this 
appraisal report, and we have no personal interest or bias with respect to the parties 
involved. 

4. Our compensation is not contingent upon the reporting of predetermined value or 
direction in value that favors the cause of the client, the amount of the value estimate, the 
attainment of a stipulated result, or the occurrence of a subsequent event. 

5. Our analyses, opinions and conclusions were developed, and this report has been 
prepared, in conformity with the requirements of the Uniform Standards of Professional 
Appraisal Practice (USPAP) as adopted by the Appraisal Standards Board of the 
Appraisal Foundation and Appraisal Institute, as well as, the Code of Professional Ethics 
and Standards of Professional Conduct of the Appraisal Standards Board of the Appraisal 
Foundation and Appraisal Institute. 

6. The use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute relating to 
review by its duly authorized representatives. 

7. Our compensation is not contingent on an action or event resulting from the analyses, 
opinions, or conclusions in, or use of this report.  The employment of the appraiser was 
not conditioned upon the appraisal producing a specific value or value within a given 
range.

8. The appraisal assignment was not based upon a requested minimum valuation, a specific 
valuation, or the approval of a loan. 

9. As of the date of this appraisal, William R. Murphy, MAI, has completed the 
requirements of the continuing education program of the Appraisal Institute. As of the 
date of this appraisal, William R. Murphy MAI has completed the requirements of the 
continuing education program of the State of Texas.

10. William R. Murphy MAI has made a personal inspection of the subject property and 
concurs with the analyses and conclusions of this appraisal. 

Item V.B. 29



11. As of the date of this appraisal report, William R. Murphy MAI has completed the 
requirements of the Texas Real Estate Appraiser Certification Committee having 
provided satisfactory evidence required by Section 22 of the Real Estate License Act 
(Article 6573a, V.T.C.S.) and of Chapter 544 of the Rules of The Texas Real Estate 
Commission, are authorized to use the title of State Certified General Real Estate 
Appraiser. 

12. I certify that I have not appraised or had any professional interest in the subject property 
within the past three years prior to accepting this assignment. 

The Murphy Appraisal Group, LLC 

_______________________________ 
William R. Murphy MAI 

Item V.B. 30



ENVIRONMENTAL DISCLAIMER 

The value estimated in this report is based on the assumption that the property is not negatively affected 
by the existence of any hazardous substances.  The appraiser is not an expert in the identification of 
hazardous substances or detrimental environmental conditions.  The appraiser’s inspection of the property 
did not reveal any information that indicated any environmental hazards existed that would negatively 
impact this property. 

The value estimated is based on the following assumptions. 

1. The value estimate in this appraisal is based on the assumption that there is an adequate supply of 
safe, lead free water. 

2. The value estimate in this appraisal is based on the assumption that the Sanitary Waste is disposed of 
by a municipal sewer or an adequate property permitted alternate treatment system in good condition. 

3. The value estimate in this appraisal is based on the assumption that the subject property is free of soil 
contaminants. 

4. The value estimate in this appraisal is based on the assumption that there is no contained friable 
asbestos or other hazardous asbestos material on the property. 

5. The value estimate in this appraisal is based on the assumption that there is no uncontained PCB’s on 
or nearby the property. 

6. The value estimated in this appraisal is based on the assumption that the Radon level is at or below 
EPA recommended levels. 

Item V.B. 31



TABLE OF CONTENTS

 Page 
CERTIFICATION ................................................................................................................... X 
ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS ............................................................ XX 
SUBJECT PHOTOGRAPHS ................................................................................................... 1 
CLIENT ………………………………………………………………………………..…..…9 
IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY .............................................................................. 9 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION .......................................................................................................... 9 
PURPOSE AND DATE OF THE APPRAISAL ...................................................................... 9 
INTENDED USE OF THE REPORT....................................................................................... 9 
INTEREST APPRAISED ......................................................................................................... 9 
DEFINITION OF VALUE  ...................................................................................................... 9 
DATE OF APPRAISAL ………………………………………………………………..….....9 
SCOPE OF THE APPRAISAL .............................................................................................. 10 
SALES HISTORY OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY ............................................................ 11 
MARKETING AND EXPOSURE TIME .............................................................................. 12 
COMPETENCY PROVISION ............................................................................................... 12 
AREA AND NEIGHBORHOOD ANALYSIS ...................................................................... 14 
SITE ANALYSIS ................................................................................................................... 16 
DESCRIPTION OF IMPROVEMENTS ................................................................................ 16 
REAL PROPERTY TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS ............................................................ 17 
HIGHEST AND BEST USE .................................................................................................. 17 
VALUATION PROCESS ....................................................................................................... 18 
COST APPROACH .............................................................................................................. NA
DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH ................................................................... 19 
INCOME APPROACH ........................................................................................................ NA 
RECONCILIATION OF VALUE .......................................................................................... 25 
DEFINITIONS ………………………………………………………………………………27 

ADDENDA 
Engagement Letter 
Legal Description and Survey 
Tax Statements 
Miscellaneous 

Qualifications of the Appraisers

Item V.B. 32



1

SUBJECT PROPERTY PHOTOGRAPHS

Aerial view of the subject property 

Distant aerial view of the subject property 

Item V.B. 33



2

SUBJECT PROPERTY PHOTOGRAPHS 

Typical view of the property                Typical view of the property 

Typical view of the property     Typical view of the property 

Item V.B. 34



3

SUBJECT PROPERTY PHOTOGRAPHS

Typical aerial view of property  

Typical aerial view of subject property showing reported road easements  

Item V.B. 35



4

SUBJECT PROPERTY PHOTOGRAPHS

Typical aerial view of property  

Typical aerial view of subject property 

Item V.B. 36



5

SUBJECT PROPERTY PHOTOGRAPHS

Typical view of property  

Typical view of subject property 

Item V.B. 37



6

SUBJECT PROPERTY PHOTOGRAPHS 

View along Brazoria County Drainage easement looking south, subject is at the right of photo 

Typical view of the subject property 

Item V.B. 38



7

SUBJECT PROPERTY PHOTOGRAPHS 

Typical view of the subject property 

Typical view of the subject property 

Item V.B. 39



8

SUBJECT PROPERTY PHOTOGRAPHS 

View along Brazoria County Drainage easement looking north, subject is at the top of photo 

Typical older aerial view of the subject property 

Item V.B. 40



9

Appraisal Restricted Report

Client: Mohsin Rasheed and Taha Development LLC

Identification of the Subject Property: The subject land is being appraised as vacant unimproved land
and the address is 110 Cullen Boulevard, Pearland, Texas 77581. The subject property is typical for the 
area and was being appraised as effectively vacant unimproved land  as of the effective date of the 
appraisal. The property currently does not have paved public access to the property but is accessible via 
an unpaved access easement.  

Purpose of the Appraisal: To estimate the as is current market value of the unrestricted fee simple estate 
of the subject property. 

Intended Use of the Report: This report is for the sole and exclusive use of our client, Mohsin Rasheed
and Taha Development LLC.  The report will be used for assisting the client in business decisions or 
gifting purposes. This report is NOT intended for loan underwriting purposes.

Interest Valued: Fee simple estate.  

Date of the Site Visit: April 3, 2016

Effective Date of the Appraisal: April 3, 2016

Date of the Report: April 8, 2016 

Legal Description:  A 20.03 acre parcel of land in the HT & BRR Survey, Tracts 1A1-10 acres, 1A-7.67 
acres and 1A-2.33 acres, Abstract Number 0310, in Brazoria County, according to the Map of Records 
of Brazoria County, Texas and BCAD. Please refer to the addenda for a legal description per the survey, 
metes and bounds description and the BCAD tax records and plat. An older survey and a plat map plus 
additional tax and property information is in the addenda. 

Market Value: Market Value, as defined by the Office of the Controller of the Currency under 12 CFR, 
Part 34, Subpart C, is defined as follows: 

The most probable price which a property should bring in a competitive and open market 
under all conditions requisite to a fair sale, the buyer and seller each acting prudently and 
knowledgeably, and assuming the price is not affected by undue stimulus.  Implicit in this 
definition is the consummation of a sale as of a specified date and passing of title from 
seller to buyer under conditions whereby: 

1. Buyer and seller are typically motivated; 
2. Both parties are well informed or well advised, and acting in what they 

consider their own best interests; 
3. A reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market; 
4. Payment is made in terms of cash in U.S. dollars or in terms of financial 

arrangements comparable thereto; and  

Item V.B. 41



10

5. The price represents the normal consideration for the property sold 
unaffected by special or creative financing or sales concessions granted 
by anyone associated with the sale. 

Scope of the Appraisal: The scope of this appraisal involved the systematic research and analysis 
necessary to reach a value conclusion for the subject.  The initial step was a site visit to the subject and 
the surrounding area.  After analyzing the macro environment, research was conducted relevant to the 
valuation process, including gathering comparable land and or unimproved sales and listings, other 
comparable information, market data, real estate tax data, zoning, and other pertinent information (if 
necessary).  Finally, we analyzed and applied the resulting information to those approaches to value 
deemed relevant and important if the approach was going to be developed as part of the scope of the 
assignment.  We have considered the Income Capitalization, Sales Comparison and Cost Approaches in 
this appraisal. Therefore, the scope of this assignment is to develop the necessary approaches in order to 
produce a credible assignment result and a restricted report. In this instance the Direct Sales Approach on 
this property was necessary for a credible assignment result and was developed. In this instance the Cost 
Approach on this property was not necessary for a credible assignment result and was not developed. In 
this instance the Income Approach on this property was not necessary for a credible assignment result and 
was not developed. This Restricted Report is the written result of our findings and analysis.  We have 
appraised properties similar to the subject before and have satisfied the competency provision of USPAP. 
As defined by the Uniform Standards of Appraisal Practice, (USPAP), this is an "Appraisal" and a 
"Restricted Report." Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning and analyses is retained in 
the appraiser's file and must be reviewed for a comprehensive understanding of this appraisal.  The 
information contained in this report is specific to the needs of the client and for the intended use stated in 
this report. The supporting data and the analysis of the data that are not discussed in the report are 
contained in our files.  Any analysis not described in the report is retained in the appraiser’s file.  
Supporting documentation is retained in the appraiser's file and must be reviewed for a comprehensive 
understanding of this appraisal. The request of the client or the nature of the assignment has not limited 
the scope of this appraisal. This appraisal does involve the use of all necessary approaches to value, 
concludes in an estimate of Market Value based on an unconditioned definition, and is transmitted in a 
restricted report format.  It has been the intention of the appraiser to prepare this report in conformity with 
the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) of the Appraisal Foundation, 
FIRREA and the Supplemental Standards and regulations of the Appraisal Institute. 

In preparing this appraisal, the appraiser viewed the subject property and made a physical site visit of the 
subject property and general area.  Information was gathered concerning sales of similar property, and 
sales and rents of comparable improved properties if applicable.  The search for sales concentrated on the 
immediate market area, but if necessary included other Houston metro area markets. The data was 
analyzed and adjustments were made for differences between the subject and the market data if 
applicable. The adjusted conclusion of each of the developed approaches was considered and correlated to 
a final market value conclusion.  The description of extent of the process of collecting, confirming, and 
reporting data may be contained within this report or retained in the appraisers file. 

Engineering studies, ADA determinations, and environmental audits are beyond the scope of this 
appraisal.  The appraiser is not qualified to detect or identify structural or mechanical deficiencies present 
in the improvements, nor hazardous substances that may, or may not, be present on, in, or near the subject 
property. 

Information regarding leases, financial statements, or other written or verbal representations and/or 
communications and information provided to us were reasonably relied upon in good faith, but have not 
been analyzed for their legal implications.  We urge and caution the user of this report to obtain legal 

Item V.B. 42



11

counsel of his own choice to review the legal and factual matters, and to verify and analyze the 
underlying facts and merits of any investment decision in a reasonably prudent manner. 

We were not provided with a site plan or building plans, a recent survey was provided, we were provided 
with very limited data relative to the physical aspects of the property.

In preparing this appraisal, the appraiser reviewed market transactions in the general area, analyzed 
general market conditions, and prepared an appraisal and a restricted report using all necessary and 
credible approaches to value for market value purposes. The appraiser analyzed existing and historical 
market driven sales of similar properties comparing them in regards to similarly to the subject property. 
The cost, direct sales and income approaches were considered for this appraisal and the subject was 
unimproved property. In this instance the Cost Approach and Income Approach were not necessary for a 
credible assignment result and were not developed. In this instance the Direct Sales Approach on this 
property was necessary for a credible assignment result and was developed. 

For the purpose of this appraisal and at our client’s request, we have used the owner’s records that show 0 
NSF as the size of the building improvements. The owner indicates that the land size is 20.03 acres or 
872,555 SF and the gross improved building size is 0 SF which is similar to the improved size indicated 
by the BCAD.  The BCAD indicates that the land size is 20.00  acres or 871,200  SF and the gross 
improved building size is 0 SF. The owner land size figure does not include the road easement area 
in the size and the BCAD records do not include the road easement area. A current survey was not 
provided and we have not independently verified the size of the land or improvements for the purpose of 
this appraisal. For the purpose of this appraisal we have used 20.03 acres or 872,555 SF as the size of the 
site and 0 SF as the size of any building improvements. 

To develop the opinion of value, the appraiser performed the appraisal process, as defined by the Uniform 
Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice.  This Appraisal and Restricted Report sets forth only the 
appraiser's conclusions and the indicated market value from the necessary approaches to value.  
Supporting documentation is retained in the appraiser's file and must be reviewed for a comprehensive 
understanding of this appraisal.  

History of the subject: The current owner of record is Taha Development LLC according to BCAD 
(Brazoria County Appraisal District) record. The last sale date was September 4, 2007 per BCAD. No 
prior sales amount or loan amount was given in the BCAD records. The BCAD tax ID numbers are 0310-
0015-105, 0215-0002-000, 0310-0015-000 and this is for the entire property per BCAD records. The seller of 
record was given as Ernest & Jennifer Johnson. The subject site has not transferred in the last three 
years based on the BCAD records. The site sold on September 4, 2007 for an unknown amount 
with no loan information noted per BCAD records. Based on the general warranty deed number 
2007051271 there was a purchase money loan for $487,500 from Woodforest National Bank. 
The recording number was 2007051271. No other sales in the last three years were disclosed. 
The client previously stated that he purchased the property out of bankruptcy and paid 
approximately $960,000+- for the property and also paid approximately $480,000+- for lien 
removal and back taxes. I could not confirm this with another source and it was taken at face 
value for the purpose of this appraisal.  The current vacant unimproved land use is typical for the 
area but is not the highest and best use of the site. The vacant unimproved land  use is considered to be 
an investment use or the interim highest and best use of the site at this time.  To the best of our 
knowledge, no other sale or transfer of ownership has occurred, as of the effective date of this appraisal. 

Item V.B. 43



12

The property is vacant unimproved land  and was an average site for the area at the time of the site 
visit. The site is a 20.00 acre property as currently described on the BCAD records and has an assessed 
land value of $496,240 for years 2014 and 2015. It appears that the property is vacant unimproved land 
and does not have excess land based on the current use of the property. The property is not reported to be 
under contract and was not listed on MLS at the time of this appraisal. The site does not have a paved 
access road to the site but does appear to have an unpaved access easement. The owner stated that the city 
of Pearland has granted permission for a curb cut from Mc Hard Road to the site. This has not been 
verified or confirmed by the appraisal and is taken at face value.    A copy of the tax records is included in 
the addenda.  The property has been posted for sale several times since 2007. The property was 
shown on CoStar as of August 26, 2009 as 22.31 acres at a price of $1,943,647 or approximately 
$2.00 per square foot as a single family development site. The property also was posted on MLS 
#94792674 believed to be in 2012 for 20.0311 acres at a price of $1,500,000 or $1.72 psf. The 
property is not currently listed but an old weathered Ardent Commercial Realty Group for sale 
sign was on the property. The property is posted in CoStar at this time but with no listing price 
included. The owner stated that the property is not currently listed. 

Marketing and Exposure Time: Based on our investigation of the market, which included 
discussions with market participants, and a review of national and local surveys, it is our opinion 
that this property would have a reasonable exposure time, as well as marketing time, of 12 
months, at the value estimated in this report. 

CAP RATE

4th Quarter 2015 PWC Current Year Ago Average
National Market-Average (months) (months) Cap Rate
National Apartment Market 3.80 4.10 5.35%
National Net Lease Market 4.40 4.50 6.78%
National Regional Mall 9.00 9.02 6.03%
National Strip Shopping Center 5.60 6.10 6.38%
National Office (CBD) 6.40 6.90 5.68%
National Office (Suburban) 6.30 7.10 6.36%
National Secondary Office 5.80 6.00 7.52%
National Medical Office Building 4.40 5.10 6.84%
Houston Office Market 7.80 5.80 7.01%
National Flex/R& D Market 7.00 6.70 7.15%
National Warehouse 4.60 4.70 5.48%
National Lodging-Limited Service 7.00 7.00 8.78%
Domestic Self-Storage Market 3.00 3.00 5.90%
National Power Center 6.00 6.30 6.31%
All Markets-Average 5.79 5.88 6.54%

   AVERAGE MARKETING TIME IN MONTHS

Indicated Marketing Time: An estimated marketing time of twelve months to market the property is 
considered to be a reasonable marketing time for the subject property. 

Indicated Exposure Time: Estimated exposure time of twelve months exposure to the market for 
estimated market value. 

Competency Provision: USPAP contains a requirement that an appraiser have the knowledge and 
experience to complete an assignment competently.  William R. Murphy, MAI SRA CCIM is a 1970 
graduate of the University of Texas-Austin. He has been a real estate appraiser since 1974 and received 
the MAI designation in 1980 and has been a state certified real estate appraiser since 1990. He is 
competent to appraise the subject property, having appraised similar properties over his 42 plus years as 

Item V.B. 44



13

an appraiser in the Houston market area.  The continuing educational program followed by the appraiser 
is developed by the Appraisal Institute and the Texas License and Certification Board in order to remain 
abreast of current and future trends in the real estate market and the appraisal profession. Mr. Murphy has 
met the continuing education requirements of the Appraisal Institute period thru December 31, 2017. Also 
Mr. Murphy is a state certified real estate appraiser and has completed the continuing education 
requirements by the Texas License and Certification Board. This experience, together with knowledge 
gained through Appraisal Institute courses and the Appraisal Institute recertification program, complies 
with the USPAP Competency Provision. 

Extraordinary assumptions: We have made the extraordinary assumption that any existing restrictive 
covenants or easements are not binding on the property or his heirs, successors and assigns, and there is 
no restriction or limitation of any nature whatsoever that would restrict, limit or prevent the development 
and/or use of the subject property for any commercial purposes. We have assumed that all possible 
feasible uses are available to be developed on the site.  

Hypothetical conditions: We have appraised the subject property as effectively vacant land and have not 
given consideration to the any older improvements or site improvements or the cost to remove the older 
improvements.  

Item V.B. 45



14

SUBJECT PROPERTY MAPS

Area map 

Neighborhood map

Regional Area and Neighborhood: The subject neighborhood is located in the city of Pearland, 
Texas in Brazoria County. Houston-Sugar Land-Baytown is a 10-county metropolitan area 
defined by the Office of Management and Budget. It is located along the Gulf Coast region in the 
U.S. state of Texas. The metropolitan area is colloquially referred to as "Greater Houston" and is 
situated in East Texas, west of the Golden Triangle. Houston-Sugar Land-Baytown is the sixth-
largest metropolitan area in the United States with a population of 5.6 million as of the 2007 U.S. 
Census estimate. The population of the metropolitan area is centered in the city of Houston-the 

Item V.B. 46



15

largest economic and cultural center of Texas with a population of 2.14 million. Houston is the 
fourth-largest city in the United States of America and the largest city within the state of Texas. 
As of the 2006 U.S. Census estimate, the city has a population of 2.2 million within an area of 
600 square miles. Houston is the seat of Harris County and the economic center of the Houston-
Sugar Land-Baytown metropolitan area the sixth-largest metropolitan area in the U.S. with a 
population of around 5.6 million. Houston is among the nation’s fastest-growing metropolitan 
areas. The area grew 25.2 percent between the 1990 and 2000 censuses-adding more than 
950,000 people-while the nation's population increased 13.2 percent over the same period. From 
2000-2007, the area grew by 912,994 people. 

 The subject neighborhood is considered to be the area located in and around the Pearland, 
Texas area of the Houston Metro area. This neighborhood area is approximately 12+- miles south
of the Houston Central Business District.  More specifically, the subject property is located at 
110 Cullen Boulevard, Pearland, Texas. The neighborhood boundaries can be defined generally 
as the Pearland market area. The general physical boundaries are given as the FM 521 to the 
west, IH 45 to the east, Sam Houston Parkway to the north, and Highway 6 to the south. Primary 
access into the subject neighborhood is available via the various major thoroughfares bounding 
the neighborhood, such as SH 288, Sam Houston Parkway, FM 521, Highway 6, FM 518, FM 
2234, Cullen, SH 35, Pearland Parkway, Kirby, Hughes Ranch, and Southfork. The William
Hobby Airport is just outside and to the north of the subject neighborhood. The Bush 
Intercontinental Airport, Houston CBD and the Texas Medical Center are not within the 
neighborhood boundaries and along with the Port of Houston, Houston Ship Channel and the area 
refineries are some of the driving economic and demographic forces in the Houston area.  

Conclusion

Houston is among the fastest-growing metropolitan areas in the United States. The area grew 
25.2 percent between the 1990 and 2000 censuses adding more than 950,000 people while the 
nation's population increased 13.2 percent over the same period. From 2000 to 2010, the Houston 
Metro area grew by 26.1% or 1,231,393 people while the nation as a whole grew 9.7%. From 
2000 to 2030, the metropolitan area is projected by Woods & Poole Economics to rank fifth in 
the nation in population growth adding 2.66 million people. The Milken Institute/Greenstreet 
Real Estate Partners ranked Houston-Sugar Land-Baytown as the fifth-best performing 
metropolitan area; the Houston area had moved up 11 spaces from the previous year's ranking. 
The Houston Metro Area continues to grow and has positive job growth and increasing 
population. The real estate market continues to improve and development and new construction 
is continuing even as the local and national economy recovers. The positive growth and 
development of Houston is expected to continue as the national and local economics recover and 
improve.  

Therefore, the long-term future of the Houston-Sugar Land-Baytown Metro Area is believed to 
be positive. The subject neighborhood is mixed use in nature and includes all types of land uses.  
The subject neighborhood is imbedded within the city of Houston and is included in the Houston 
MSA.  The subject neighborhood is generally located south of the Houston CBD in the Pearland, 
Texas area and is considered to be relatively close in and has convenient freeway access.  There 
are no apparent detrimental factors to prevent future development.  Property values should 

Item V.B. 47



16

continue to be stable to increasing. For more detailed Market Overviews for the Greater Houston 
CMSA area please refer to the website http://recenter.tamu.edu/mdata/Houston-Sugar-Land-
Baytown.asp.

Additional Regional, neighborhood area and market information is in the addenda and is in our 
office and is available for your review.

Real Estate Appraised:-Site: The subject site that is located at 110 Cullen Boulevard, Pearland, Texas.
The subject site is approximately 20.03+- acres or approximately 872,555+- square foot site and the 
subject improvements are approximately 0 SF based on the MLS records and County tax records. The 
appraiser was not furnished with a current survey and the appraiser used the public or private data sources 
and BCAD tax records as the source for the subject property site and building information. Per the 
information provided, the site has an unpaved easement access from Cullen Boulevard and an unpaved 
easement access from Mc Hard Road. Also the owner stated that the city of Pearland has agreed or is 
considering allowing a curb cut off Mc Hard Road for an additional possible public paved access road to 
be constructed to the subject site. The access easement from Cullen Boulevard to the subject site is 
estimated to be approximately ½ mile in length per the information provided and is adjacent to Clear 
Creek. Primary access to the site will probably be from Mc Hard Road since this unpaved easement is 
closer to the subject site than the Cullen Boulevard unpaved easement that extends to the site. There is 
no actual site exposure or visibility from Cullen Boulevard and there is limited actual site exposure or 
visibility from Mc Hard Road. Therefore, there appears to be limited vehicle access from an unpaved 
dirt road easement from Cullen Boulevard and Mc Hard Road to the subject site. If perpetual public 
paved street accessibility along with adequate public utilities were made available to the site it would 
enhance the potential highest and best use of the site. Please refer to the aerial information in the addenda 
for additional site information and location of the easements.   No current survey or site or building plan 
were made available to the appraiser. The land and any improvements were not measured by the appraiser 
as part of the scope of this appraisal.  

Real Estate Appraised:-Improvements or Existing Use: The subject currently is vacant unimproved 
land  and is a typical site for the area. The current use of the site is an investment or interim use of the 
site. This property is vacant unimproved land  containing a total improved building area of 0 square feet 
per BCAD records. The improved building size is 0 SF per BCAD records. There are no functional 
improvements on the property. The highest and best use of the site could be for a residential, recreational 
or special purpose use  purpose. The appraiser did not measure the site for the purpose of this appraisal, 
and relied upon the square footage from the client, prior listings and BCAD records. The current use of 
the site as an investment use is not considered to be the long term highest and best use of the site. If 
perpetual public paved street accessibility along with adequate public utilities were made available to the 
site it would enhance the potential highest and best use of the site. For the purpose of this appraisal we are 
appraising this property “as effectively vacant land” or unimproved land for the purpose of this appraisal. 
No consideration was given to any improvements on the site or the cost of their removal.  

Item V.B. 48



17

Summary CAD Real Property Taxes and Assessments: 
The subject property does have three separate property tax accounts that added together represent 
the subject property.

2013 2014 2015
Land $450,010 $496,240 $496,240
Improvements $0 $0 $0
Total $450,010 $496,240 $496,240

HISTORICAL APPRAISED VALUE

Summary of BCAD Taxes
Actual 2014 assessed $496,240 $0.57 psf
Actual 2014 rate 2.013
Actual 2014 taxes $9,992 $0.01 psf
Actual 2015 assessed $496,240 $0.57 psf
Tax Rate for 2015 2.762
Actual 2015 taxes $13,708 $0.02 psf
% Increase/decrease compared to 2014 taxes & $$ amount  -0.7% $3,717

Highest and Best Use-Vacant: The current highest and best use is for an investment purpose use and this 
use is considered the highest and best use of the site as this time. Possible other uses would most likely be 
for a residential, recreational or special purpose use  or similar type use. 

Highest and Best Use-Improved: The property continued use as vacant unimproved land  or for an 
investment purpose use is the highest and best use of the site as this time. The current use type is the 
interim highest and best use and any current improvements are not the highest and best use of the site. 
The future market area supply and demand factors will dictate a possible change in the highest and best 
use when a feasible new use is identified. If perpetual public paved street accessibility along with 
adequate public utilities were made available to the site it would enhance the potential highest and best 
use of the site. The highest and best use if perpetual public paved street accessibility along with adequate 
public utilities were made available to the site would most likely be a high density residential type use or 
a related use and this use type should be considered as a possible future highest and best use if market 
indicators indicate that this is a feasible use. In order for a perpetual public paved street accessibility 
along with adequate public utilities to be made available to the site it will most likely depend on the 
owner, the city of Pearland, Brazoria County and any current or future developer/user working together to 
meet and address the changes of developing the site to a highest and best use that not only enhance the 
site but would also enhance the city, county and community as a whole.   

Item V.B. 49



18

Valuation Process

Appraisal methodology applied to any specific property or property type must emulate the 
thinking of the most probable class of purchaser.  The basic tenet of the three classical 
approaches is the principle of substitution, which holds that a prudent purchaser has three 
alternative courses of action available: 

1) To acquire a vacant site and build a similar property - the Cost Approach, in which the 
value of the site as though vacant is estimated, to which is added the estimated cost of the 
improvements.  The Cost Approach to value is most meaningful when two conditions are 
present:  a) The improvements are new or suffer from little or no accrued depreciation, and 
b) the improvements represent the Highest and Best Use of the site.  It can also be viewed 
as a measure of investment cost in a cost/benefit analysis of the feasibility of the continued 
operation of a given property in its existing or proposed use pattern. The Cost Approach 
was not necessary for a credible assignment result and was not developed for the purpose 
of this appraisal.

2) To acquire an existing property offering comparable utility - the Direct Sales 
Comparison Approach, in which sales of comparable improved properties are investigated 
and analyzed, and units of comparison are developed, and the differences and similarities 
of the properties are directly compared to the subject property to reach an estimate of 
value. The Direct Sales Approach was the most reliable approach is this case and was 
developed as part of the scope of this appraisal.

3) To acquire a substitute income stream of comparable quantity, quality, and durability - 
the Income Approach, in which the anticipated net income imputable to the property is 
estimated and then processed into value, using the appropriate capitalization or discounting 
methods considered representative of the marketplace.  The effect of the timing and 
magnitude of variable cash flows can be measured in the income approach to value, and in 
particular a discounted cash flow (DCF) model.  The Income Approach is considered to be 
a reliable indication of market value for income producing properties in most cases. The 
Income Approach was not necessary for a credible assignment result in this case and was 
not developed as part of the scope of this appraisal.  

The experience of the appraiser, coupled with objective and sound judgment, plays a major role 
in arriving at the conclusion of indicated value.  The quantity and quality of available data and 
the applicability of each approach relative to the type of value sought are important factors in 
comparing the various indications and reconciling them into a final estimate of value. 

Item V.B. 50



19

Direct Sales Comparison Approach: The Direct Sales Comparison Approach results in an 
estimate of value through the comparison of recent sales of similar properties in the surrounding 
or competing area to the subject property.  Inherent in this approach is the principle of 
substitution which states that "when a property is replaceable in the market, its value tends to be 
set at the cost of acquiring an equally desirable substitute property, assuming that no costly delay 
is encountered in making the substitution." 

By analyzing sales that qualify as arms-length transactions between willing knowledgeable 
buyers and sellers with reasonable market exposure, we can identify price trends by which value 
parameters may be extracted.  Comparability in physical, location, and economic characteristics 
is an important criterion in evaluating the sales in relation to the subject property. In our research 
and analysis of the market for unimproved properties with characteristics similar to those of the 
subject, we attempted to gather what we consider relevant data so that reasonable comparisons 
could be made.  The most widely used and market oriented units of comparison are sale price per 
square foot and effective gross income multiplier.  The Direct Sales Comparison Approach has 
as its premise a comparison of the subject property with other properties with similar design, 
utility and use that have recently sold. In this analysis, we used a conventional sales adjustment 
grid with adjustments for various elements of comparison such as time, location, size, condition, 
and quality of the improvements.  Each sale was adjusted for differences resulting from 
variations in the above elements of comparison, with respect to the subject property.  Each 
percentage adjustment was extracted from the sales by paired sale analysis where possible.  In 
most cases, the data was insufficient to isolate all the elements of comparison, and we relied on 
our judgment and experience in appraising similar properties. 

Following are summaries of the data of several unimproved sales of comparable properties in the 
Houston market area.  

Additional sales and listing were included in the direct sales approach for additional support to 
the value conclusion. 

Item V.B. 51



20

Sales Comparison Approach analyses and discussion of the compared data: 

In this analysis, we used a conventional sales grid and consideration was given for various 
elements of comparison such as time, age, location, size, condition, and quality of the 
improvements.  Each sale was considered for differences resulting from variations in the above 
elements of comparison, with respect to the subject property.  In most cases, the data was 
insufficient to isolate all the elements of comparison, and we relied on our judgment and 
experience in appraising similar properties.

SUMMARY OF COMPARABLE SALES
110 Cullen Boulevard $/NRA

as vacant unimproved land Sales Price Land SF Unadjusted-PSF

Sale Grantor Date of Assessed Value Year Occ. NRA Land AC PSF Adjusted-PSF
No. Property Grantee Sale in year of sale Built at Sale # Units Land/Bldg Land $$ per unit
1. 11505 Broadway Frost Bank Mar-15 $3,096,000 NA 0% 0 657,756 $4.71 $4.71

Effectively Vacant land Pearland II Group LP 613R $3,733,360 1 15.10 $2.35
Pearland, Texas 77584 DOM-NK 2014 land size 0 $3,096,000

2. 2855 FM 518 Third Coast Resources I, LTD Feb-14 $6,034,000 NA 0% 0 1,178,333 $5.12 $5.12
Effectively Vacant land Stream Realty Partners, LP 615R $511,319 1 27.05 $2.62
Pearland, Texas 77581 DOM-574 2014 land size 0 $6,034,000

3. 2850 Cullen Blvd. Imani Church Jul-14 $6,386,985 NA 0% 0 1,110,780 $5.75 $5.75
Effectively Vacant land PMOC, LLC 613R $1,814,630 1 25.50 $2.59
Pearland, Texas 77584 DOM-1,493 2014 land size 0 $6,386,985

* sale 3 list price is used since sale price was not known 
110 Cullen Boulevard Estimated Market Value 613D $2,200,000 NA 0% 0 872,555 $2.52 $2.52
Effectively Vacant Land HCAD Assessed Value-2014* pro rated $496,240 1 20.03 $2.52
Pearland, Texas 77581 Estimated Market Value-Property $2,200,000 land size 872,555 $2,200,000

Item V.B. 52



21

COMPARABLE SALES PHOTOGRAPHS

 Comparable Sale One  

 Comparable Sale Two 

Item V.B. 53



22

COMPARABLE SALES PHOTOGRAPHS

 Comparable Sale Three 

 Comparable Sales Map 

Item V.B. 54



23

The primary sales occurred between February 12, 2014 and March 16, 2015 and additional sales 
and listings were also included and considered in our scope and analysis of the property. The 
sales are recent sales and along with the additional sales were considered to be reliable indicators 
of value for the subject property. No market condition adjustments were considered and the 
Houston market generally has been appreciating for the last several years. All the comparable 
sales occurred under market conditions that are considered similar to the current market 
conditions as of the date of the appraisal. Recent comparable sales and listings were considered 
in the general area but sales were limited and therefore sales outside the immediate area were 
also considered for the purpose of this appraisal. These sales are in the general market area and 
are similar in land size, location, frontage, access, utilities and other features and represent 
market activity for similar properties in and around the Houston area.

All of the sales had street frontage and access and had utilities in place or utilities available to be 
utilized. The subject has limited unpaved easement access and no actual street frontage and is in 
the AE flood zone and is in a FEMA Special Flood Hazard Area. All of these issues were 
considered as superior comparable sales and reasonable adjustments were made for the 
differences. All sales were adjusted for frontage/access, utilities and flood issues as compared to 
the subject. The adjustments were considered reasonable but never the less were subjective. The 
appraiser does not know the cost of road construction or actual net developable acres available 
out of the subject property. Only after a detailed engineering and land use study can these 
potential cost and land use issues be addressed on a more specific detail in order to estimate a 
supported value of the property. All the primary Sales 1-3 were in the same market area as the 
subject property. All sales were give consideration since they had similar features as the subject 
property. Please see the additional sales that offer support to the appraised value. 

After considering for these various elements of comparison, the unadjusted sales price per square 
foot for sales ranged from $4.71 per square foot to $5.75 per square foot and averaged $5.19 psf 
with a median of $5.12 psf.  

After considering for these various elements of comparison, the adjusted sales price per square 
foot for sales ranged from $2.35 per square foot to $2.62 per square foot and averaged $2.52 psf 
with a median of $2.59 psf.

Item V.B. 55



24

/----------------------------Adjustments-----------------------------\    Total Adjusted
Sale Adjusted for Exposure/Access Land SF Physical   Adjust-  Price Per
 No. Improvements Date    Sale Price   $/PSF Market Conditions Location Frontage Land AC Features Quality    ments SF

1. 11505 Broadway Mar-15 $3,096,000 $4.71 $4.71 0% -40.0% 0.0% -10.0% 0.0% -50.0% $2.35
Effectively Vacant land 0.00% Similar Superior SF 657,756  flood issues Similar
Pearland, Texas 77584 15.10 net acres

2. 2855 FM 518 Feb-14 $6,034,000 $5.12 $5.25 0% -40.0% 0.0% -10.00% 0.0% -50.0% $2.62
Effectively Vacant land 2.50% similar Superior SF 1,178,333  flood issues Similar
Pearland, Texas 77581 location 27.05 net acres

3. 2850 Cullen Blvd. Jul-14 $6,386,985 $5.75 $5.18 0% -40.0% 0.0% -10.0% 0.0% -50.0% $2.59
Effectively Vacant land list price adjustment -10.00% similar Superior SF 1,110,780  flood issues Similar
Pearland, Texas 77584 25.50 net acres

All sales were considered to be similar as compared to the subject  location & were not adjusted.
Frontage/access adjustment of -40% was made to all sales compared to subject.
No sales were adjusted for size. All sales were adjusted for flood issues compared to subject.  No other adjustments were made to the sales.

Subject Property Building Area 0 SF Bldg. 872,555 SF Land
Subject unit count 1 20.03

Conclusion
Unadjusted Adjusted Ranges Reconciled Sales Price per PSF $2.50

$4.71 $2.35 mininum Times: SF 872,555
$5.75 $2.62 maximun Indicated Value Direct Sales Approach $2,181,387
$5.19 $2.52 average Add: Excess land at market value $0
$5.12 $2.59 median Less: Capital Improvements including profit $0
$2.50 $2.50 Selected Less: Deferred Maintenance $0

Market Value "As Effectively Vacant Land" $2,181,387
Say  : $2,200,000

110 Cullen Boulevard
SALES PRICE NET BUILDING AREA

PRIMARY ANALYSIS - ADJUSTMENT GRID

After considering the unimproved sales for location, frontage, size, physical features and access, 
and considered both the adjusted and unadjusted listings and sales we determined that the 
comparable sales supported and correlated to value indication of $2,200,000 rounded. This value 
indication is $2.52 psf of land area or $2,200,000 for the property. The subject property is not 
under contract to our knowledge based on information supplied to the appraisers.

Concluded Value-Direct Sales: - The estimated current market value of the subject property “As 
effectively vacant land” indicated by developing the Direct Sales Comparison Approach as
unrestricted property as of the current effective date of the appraisal “As Vacant Land” and under the 
current market and economic conditions was estimated to be: 

TWO MILLION TWO HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS 
$2,200,000 

The following chart contains the primary sales as well additional sales or listings that offer 
support for the indicated market value conclusion. 

Sale Date Property Address Site SF # Units Land SF Built Sales Price $ Per Unit PSF/Land Per Acre
1 3/16/2015 11505 Broadway 15.10 1 657,756 NA $3,096,000 $3,096,000 $4.71 $205,033
2 2/12/2014 2855 FM 518 27.05 1 1,178,333 NA $6,034,000 $6,034,000 $5.12 $223,062
3 7/31/2014 2850 Cullen Blvd. 25.50 1 1,110,780 NA $6,386,985 $6,386,985 $5.75 $250,470
4 12/18/2013 1810-1830 Pearland Parkway, Pearland 5.38 1 234,353 NA $700,000 $700,000 $2.99 $130,112
5 5/30/2014 6906 W Boradway, Pearland* 16.00 1 696,960 NA $725,000 $725,000 $1.04 $45,313
6 4/7/2015 0 Mykawa, Pearland 5.00 1 217,800 NA $625,000 $625,000 $2.87 $125,000
7 Listing 0000 Cullen, MLS 78044493 8.78 1 382,283 NA $1,537,000 $1,537,000 $4.02 $175,137
8 Listing 1855 Cullen, MLS 24505594 7.50 1 326,700 NA $1,788,888 $1,788,888 $5.48 $238,518
9 Listing 2400 Cullen, MLS 77035851 7.71 1 335,848 NA $2,364,411 $2,364,411 $7.04 $306,668

*some prices are approximate

12/18/13 Minimum 5.00 1 217,800 NA $625,000 $625,000 $1.04 $45,313
04/07/15 Maximum 27.05 1 1,178,333 NA $6,386,985 $6,386,985 $7.04 $306,668
08/03/14 Average 13.11 1 571,201 NA $2,584,143 $2,584,143 $4.33 $188,812
06/30/14 Median 8.78 1 382,283 NA $1,788,888 $1,788,888 $4.71 $205,033

Subject 110 Cullen Boulevard 20.03 1 872,555 NA $2,200,000 $2,200,000 $2.52 $109,829
Subject Estimated Market Value 20.03 1 872,555 NA $2,200,000 $2,200,000 $2.52 $109,829

PRIMARY SALES 1-3 AND ADDITIONAL IMPROVED SALES/LISTINGS-UNADJUSTED 

Item V.B. 56



25

Reconciliation and Value Conclusion

The three approaches to value were considered and resulted in the following indications 
of value: 

Cost Approach:  Not Developed 
Direct Sales Comparison Approach: As vacant land $2,200,000 
Income Approach: Not Developed 

The results of the approaches considered indicated a reliable value for the subject 
property.  The Income Approach was considered and was not developed and was not 
necessary for a credible assignment result in this case. The Income Approach was not 
considered a reliable and reasonable approach to value and it was not developed as part 
of the scope of this appraisal.

The Cost Approach to value was not considered as reliable of an approach in this instance 
and was not developed for the purpose of this appraisal. Land values are increasing in this 
area and redevelopment of sites with older improvements is occurring in the area. We 
placed no emphasis on the Cost Approach to value in this analysis.  

The Direct Sales Comparison Approach was considered for estimating the land value. The 
Direct Sales Comparison Approach was used to compare sales that are comparable to the 
subject.  The sales were considered to be comparable and set a range of value for the 
subject property. The Sales Comparison Approach was utilized to estimate the value of the 
subject site, as if vacant.  This approach is a reliable indication of the willing buyer willing 
seller concept. The Direct Sales Approach was given the most consideration in this 
appraisal analysis.

Based on our investigation and analysis, it is our opinion that the current Market Value
of the Fee Simple Estate, "As effectively vacant land", of the subject property as of the 
current effective date of the appraisal was: 

TWO MILLION TWO HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS 
$2,200,000 

The property is currently not under contract to our knowledge. The property does not 
have excess land for the purpose of this appraisal. 

Concluded Value: - The estimated current Market Value Appraised “As effectively vacant land”, 
as of the current effective date of the appraisal, as unrestricted property under the current market 
and economic conditions and with unpaved easement access is estimated to be $2,200,000 
rounded.

Item V.B. 57



26

Sale Date Property Address Site SF # Units Land SF Built Sales Price $ Per Unit PSF/Land Per Acre
1 3/16/2015 11505 Broadway 15.10 1 657,756 NA $3,096,000 $3,096,000 $4.71 $205,033
2 2/12/2014 2855 FM 518 27.05 1 1,178,333 NA $6,034,000 $6,034,000 $5.12 $223,062
3 7/31/2014 2850 Cullen Blvd. 25.50 1 1,110,780 NA $6,386,985 $6,386,985 $5.75 $250,470
4 12/18/2013 1810-1830 Pearland Parkway, Pearland 5.38 1 234,353 NA $700,000 $700,000 $2.99 $130,112
5 5/30/2014 6906 W Boradway, Pearland* 16.00 1 696,960 NA $725,000 $725,000 $1.04 $45,313
6 4/7/2015 0 Mykawa, Pearland 5.00 1 217,800 NA $625,000 $625,000 $2.87 $125,000
7 Listing 0000 Cullen, MLS 78044493 8.78 1 382,283 NA $1,537,000 $1,537,000 $4.02 $175,137
8 Listing 1855 Cullen, MLS 24505594 7.50 1 326,700 NA $1,788,888 $1,788,888 $5.48 $238,518
9 Listing 2400 Cullen, MLS 77035851 7.71 1 335,848 NA $2,364,411 $2,364,411 $7.04 $306,668

*some prices are approximate

12/18/13 Minimum 5.00 1 217,800 NA $625,000 $625,000 $1.04 $45,313
04/07/15 Maximum 27.05 1 1,178,333 NA $6,386,985 $6,386,985 $7.04 $306,668
08/03/14 Average 13.11 1 571,201 NA $2,584,143 $2,584,143 $4.33 $188,812
06/30/14 Median 8.78 1 382,283 NA $1,788,888 $1,788,888 $4.71 $205,033

Subject 110 Cullen Boulevard 20.03 1 872,555 NA $2,200,000 $2,200,000 $2.52 $109,829
Subject Estimated Market Value 20.03 1 872,555 NA $2,200,000 $2,200,000 $2.52 $109,829

PRIMARY SALES 1-3 AND ADDITIONAL IMPROVED SALES/LISTINGS-UNADJUSTED 

Item V.B. 58



27

DEFINITIONS

Fee Simple: Fee simple, as defined by the Appraisal Institute, is "absolute ownership 
unencumbered by any other interest or estate subject only to the limitations of eminent domain, 
escheat, police power and taxation."

Leased Fee Estate: An ownership interest held by a landlord with the rights of use and 
occupancy conveyed by lease to others. The rights of the lessor (the leased fee owner) and the 
leased fee are specified by contract terms contained within the lease

Undivided interest: Fractional ownership without physical division into shares 

Market Value: Market Value, as defined by the Office of the Controller of the Currency under 
12 CFR, Part 34, Subpart C, is defined as follows: 

The most probable price which a property should bring in a competitive and open 
market under all conditions requisite to a fair sale, the buyer and seller each 
acting prudently and knowledgeably, and assuming the price is not affected by 
undue stimulus.  Implicit in this definition is the consummation of a sale as of a 
specified date and passing of title from seller to buyer under conditions whereby: 

1. Buyer and seller are typically motivated; 

2. Both parties are well informed or well advised, and acting in 
what they consider their own best interests; 

3. A reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market; 

4. Payment is made in terms of cash in U.S. dollars or in terms of 
financial arrangements comparable thereto; and  

6. The price represents the normal consideration for the property 
sold unaffected by special or creative financing or sales 
concessions granted by anyone associated with the sale. 

Value As Is: The value of specific ownership rights to an identified parcel of real estate as of the 
effective date of the appraisal; relates to what physically exists and is legally permissible and 
excludes all assumptions concerning hypothetical market conditions or possible rezoning.  

Effective Date: The date at which the analyses, opinions, and advice in an appraisal, review, or 
consulting service apply. (USPAP, 2002 Ed.) 

Condominium: A multiunit structure or property in which persons hold fee simple title 
to individual units and an undivided interest in common areas.

Undivided interest: Fractional ownership without physical division into shares 

Item V.B. 59



28

Going Concern: an established and operating business having an indefinite future life.* 
The going concern concept recognizes the contribution of the business and the systems developed 
to implement it. It acknowledges the transitory nature of the advantages garnered by that business 
by specifying an indefinite future period of operation. 

Market value of the total assets of the business– value of all tangible and intangible assets of a 
business as if sold in aggregate as a going concern.* This concept embodies an estimate of the 
value of the temporary advantage accruing to the business because it possesses a unique set of 
assets organized by a superior business model.  

The Appraisal of Real Estate defines “going concern value” as “the value of a proven property 
operation.” A simple and relatively raw method for the valuation of going concerns is by 
application of rule of thumb. 

Prospective Value Opinion: A forecast of the value expected at a specified future date. A 
prospective value opinion is most frequently sought in connection with real estate projects that 
are proposed, under construction, or under conversion to a new use, or those that have not 
achieved sellout or a stabilized level of long-term occupancy at the time the appraisal report is 
written.

Retrospective value Opinion: An opinion of value that is likely to have applied as of a specified 
historic date. A retrospective value opinion is most frequently sought in connection with 
appraisals for estate tax, condemnation, inheritance tax, and similar purposes. 

Extraordinary Assumption: An assumption, directly related to a specific assignment, which, if 
found to be false, could alter the appraiser's opinions or conclusions. Extraordinary assumptions 
presume as fact otherwise uncertain information about physical, legal, or economic characteristics 
of the subject property; or about conditions external to the property such as market conditions or 
trends; or about the integrity of data used in an analysis. An extraordinary assumption may be 
used in an assignment only if: 
o   It is required to properly develop credible opinions and conclusions; 
o   The appraiser has a reasonable basis for the extraordinary assumption; 
o   Use of the extraordinary assumption results in a credible analysis; and 
o   The appraiser complies with the disclosure requirements set forth in USPAP for extraordinary 
assumptions. 
 (USPAP, 2002 ed.) 

Hypothetical Condition: That which is contrary to what exists but is supposed for the purpose of 
analysis.  Hypothetical conditions assume conditions contrary to known facts about physical, 
legal, or economic characteristics of the subject property; or about conditions external to the 
property, such as market conditions or trends; or about the integrity of data used in an analysis. A 
hypothetical condition may be used in an assignment only if:  
o  Use of the hypothetical condition is clearly required for legal purposes, for purposes of 
reasonable analysis, or for purposes of comparison; 
o  Use of the hypothetical condition results in a credible analysis; and 
o  The appraiser complies with the disclosure requirements set forth in USPAP for hypothetical 
conditions.
(USPAP, 2002 ed.) 

Item V.B. 60



29

STATEMENT OF ASSUMPTIONS, LIMITING CONDITIONS, AND CERTIFICATION 

1. This is a Restricted Use Appraisal Report, which is intended to comply with the reporting 
requirements set forth under Standard Rule 2-2 of the Uniform Standards of Professional 
Appraisal Practice for a Restricted Appraisal Report.  As such, it does not include discussions of 
the data, reasoning, and analyses that were used in the appraisal process to develop the appraiser's 
opinion of value.  Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning and analyses is 
retained in the appraiser's file and must be reviewed for a comprehensive understanding of this 
appraisal.  The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the client 
and for the intended use stated in this report. This report is restricted to the use of our client. 
The appraiser is not responsible for unauthorized use of this report. 

2. No survey of the subject property was undertaken and the appraiser(s) assumes no 
responsibility associated with such matters. 

3. The value estimate assumes responsible ownership and competent management.  The 
subject property is assumed to be free and clear of all liens, except as may be otherwise herein 
described.  No responsibility is assumed by the appraiser(s) for matters legal in character, nor is 
any opinion on the title is rendered, which is presumed to be good and marketable. 

4. The information contained herein has been gathered from sources deemed to be reliable 
but the appraiser(s) assumes no responsibility for its accuracy.  Correctness of estimates, 
opinions, dimensions, sketches and other exhibits that have been furnished and have been used in 
this report are not guaranteed. 

5. The value estimate rendered herein is considered reliable and valid only as of the date of 
the appraisal, due to rapid changes in the external factors that can significantly affect the property 
value.  The final estimate of market value is expressed in terms of the current purchasing power 
of the dollar. 

6. Any leased, agreements or other written or verbal representations and/or communications 
and information received by the appraiser(s) have been reasonably relied upon in good faith but 
have not been analyzed for their legal implications.  We urge and caution the user of this report to 
obtain legal counsel of his or her own choice to review the legal and factual matters, and to verify 
and analyze the underlying facts and merits of any investment decision in a reasonably prudent 
manner.

7. We assume no responsibility for any hidden agreements known as "side letters", which 
may, or may not, exist relative to this property, which have not been made known to us, unless 
specifically acknowledged within this report. 

8. This report is to be used in whole and not in part.  Any separate valuation for land and 
improvements shall not be used in conjunction with any other appraisal and is invalid if so used.  
Possession of this report or any copy thereof does not carry with it the right of publication nor 
may the same be used for any purpose by anyone but the client without the previous written 
consent of the appraiser(s), and in any event, only in its entirety. 

Item V.B. 61



30

9. The appraiser(s) here, by reason of this report, are not required to give testimony in court 
with reference to the property appraised unless notice and proper arrangements have been 
previously made therefore. 

10. Neither all nor any part of the contents of this report shall be conveyed to the public 
through advertising, public relations, news, sales, or other media without prior written consent 
and approval of the author, particularly but not exclusively as to the firm with which he or she is 
connected, or any reference to the following: Appraisal Institute, American Institute of Real 
Estate Appraisers, the Society of Real Estate Appraisers, Member Appraisal Institute (MAI) or 
Senior Real Property Appraiser (SRPA) designations. 

11. No subsoil data or analysis based on engineering core boring or other tests were furnished 
to us.  We have assumed that there are no subsoil defects present that would impair development 
of the land to its maximum permitted use, or would render it more or less valuable.  No 
responsibility is assumed for engineering, which might be required to discover such factors. 

12. The construction and physical condition of the improvements described herein are based 
on visual inspection, unless otherwise stated.  No liability is assumed by the appraiser(s) for the 
soundness of structural members since no engineering tests were conducted.  No liability is 
assumed for the condition or adequacy of mechanical equipment, plumbing, or electrical 
components.  No responsibility is assumed for engineering, which might be required to discover 
such factors.  We urge the user of this report to retain an expert in this field. 

 13. Unless otherwise stated in this report, the existence of hazardous substances, including 
without limitation, asbestos, polychlorinated biphenyls, petroleum leakage, or agricultural 
chemicals, which may or may not be present on the property, or other environmental conditions, 
were not called to the attention or nor did the appraiser(s) become aware of such during the 
appraiser's inspection.  The appraiser(s) has no knowledge of the existence of such materials on 
or in the property unless otherwise stated.  The appraiser(s), however, is not qualified to test such 
substances or conditions.  If the presence of such substances, such as asbestos, urea 
formaldehyde, foam insulation, or other hazardous substances or environmental conditions, may 
affect the value of the property, the value estimate is predicated on the assumption that there is no 
such condition on or in the property or in such proximity thereto that it would cause a loss in 
value.  No responsibility is assumed for any such conditions, nor for any expertise or engineering 
knowledge required to detect or discover them.  We urge the user of this report to retain an expert 
in the field of environmental impacts on real estate. 

14. The projections of income, expenses, terminal values or future sales prices are not 
predictions of the future.  Rather, they are the best estimate of current market thinking of what 
future trends will be.  No warranty or representation is made that these projections will 
materialize.  The real estate market is constantly fluctuating and changing.  It is not the task of the 
appraiser(s) to estimate the conditions of a future real estate market, but rather to reflect what the 
investment community envisions for the future, and upon what assumptions of the future 
investment decisions are based. 

15. The client or user of this report agrees to notify the appraiser(s) of any error, omission, 

Item V.B. 62



31

or inaccurate data in the report within 15 days of receipt, and return the report and all 
copies of the report to the appraiser(s) for correction prior to any use. 

16. The acceptance of this report, and its subsequent use by the client or any other party in 
any manner whatsoever or for any purpose, is acknowledgment by the user that the entire report 
has been read, and specifically agrees that the data and analysis, to their knowledge, are correct 
and acceptable. 

Item V.B. 63



32

CERTIFICATION OF APPRAISAL

We certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief,... 

1. The statements of fact contained in the appraisal report, upon which the analyses, 
opinions and conclusions expressed herein are based, are true and correct. 

2. The reported analyses, opinions and conclusions are limited only by the report 
assumptions and limiting conditions, and our personal, unbiased professional analyses, 
opinions and conclusions. 

3. We have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this 
appraisal report, and we have no personal interest or bias with respect to the parties 
involved. 

4. Our compensation is not contingent upon the reporting of predetermined value or 
direction in value that favors the cause of the client, the amount of the value estimate, the 
attainment of a stipulated result, or the occurrence of a subsequent event. 

5. Our analyses, opinions and conclusions were developed, and this report has been 
prepared, in conformity with the requirements of the Uniform Standards of Professional 
Appraisal Practice (USPAP) as adopted by the Appraisal Standards Board of the 
Appraisal Foundation and Appraisal Institute, as well as, the Code of Professional Ethics 
and Standards of Professional Conduct of the Appraisal Standards Board of the Appraisal 
Foundation and Appraisal Institute. 

6. The use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute relating to 
review by its duly authorized representatives. 

7. Our compensation is not contingent on an action or event resulting from the analyses, 
opinions, or conclusions in, or use of this report.  The employment of the appraiser was 
not conditioned upon the appraisal producing a specific value or value within a given 
range.

8. The appraisal assignment was not based upon a requested minimum valuation, a specific 
valuation, or the approval of a loan. 

9. As of the date of this appraisal, William R. Murphy, MAI, has completed the 
requirements of the continuing education program of the Appraisal Institute. As of the 
date of this appraisal, William R. Murphy MAI has completed the requirements of the 
continuing education program of the State of Texas.

10. William R. Murphy MAI has made a personal inspection of the subject property and 
concurs with the analyses and conclusions of this appraisal. 

Item V.B. 64



33

11. As of the date of this appraisal report, William R. Murphy MAI has completed the 
requirements of the Texas Real Estate Appraiser Certification Committee having 
provided satisfactory evidence required by Section 22 of the Real Estate License Act 
(Article 6573a, V.T.C.S.) and of Chapter 544 of the Rules of The Texas Real Estate 
Commission, are authorized to use the title of State Certified General Real Estate 
Appraiser. 

12. I certify that I have not appraised or had any professional interest in the subject property 
within the past three years prior to accepting this assignment. 

The Murphy Appraisal Group, LLC 

_______________________________ 
William R. Murphy MAI 

Item V.B. 65



34

ENVIRONMENTAL DISCLAIMER 

The value estimated in this report is based on the assumption that the property is not negatively 
affected by the existence of any hazardous substances.  The appraiser is not an expert in the 
identification of hazardous substances or detrimental environmental conditions.  The appraiser’s 
inspection of the property did not reveal any information that indicated any environmental 
hazards existed that would negatively impact this property. 

The value estimated is based on the following assumptions. 

1. The value estimate in this appraisal is based on the assumption that there is an adequate 
supply of safe, lead free water. 

2. The value estimate in this appraisal is based on the assumption that the Sanitary Waste is 
disposed of by a municipal sewer or an adequate property permitted alternate treatment 
system in good condition. 

3. The value estimate in this appraisal is based on the assumption that the subject property is 
free of soil contaminants. 

4. The value estimate in this appraisal is based on the assumption that there is no contained 
friable asbestos or other hazardous asbestos material on the property. 

5. The value estimate in this appraisal is based on the assumption that there is no uncontained 
PCB’s on or nearby the property. 

6. The value estimated in this appraisal is based on the assumption that the Radon level is at or 
below EPA recommended levels. 

Item V.B. 66



Addenda 

Item V.B. 67



Engagement Letter

Item V.B. 68



Item V.B. 69



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Email Correspondence 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item V.B. 70



Item V.B. 71



1

Bill Murphy

From: Mohsin Rasheed <mohsinrc@gmail.com>
Sent: Wednesday, April 13, 2016 10:29 AM
To: Bill Murphy
Subject: Re: Regarding 20+ Acres 110 Cullen Blvd

Bill,

Yes utilities are available. 
The developer will be responsible for cost of road. 
Cost unknown at this time. 

Regards,
Rasheed

On Tue, Apr 12, 2016 at 1:19 PM, Bill Murphy <wmurphy@murphyappraisalgroup.com> wrote: 

OK thanks. Are public water and sewer utilities available to the site and do you have an estimate of the cost for the access road 
to the site? Who will put the road and who will pay for the road ? the owner/developer or the city of Pearland ???  

 

William R. Murphy MAI SRA CCIM

The Murphy Appraisal Group LLC

Real Estate Appraisers and Consultants

9219 Katy Freeway, Suite 195

Houston, Texas  77024

713-468-6819, Fax 713-463-9885

www.murphyappraisalgroup.com

 

From: Mohsin Rasheed [mailto:mohsinrc@gmail.com]  
Sent: Tuesday, April 12, 2016 12:00 PM 
To: wmurphy@murphyappraisalgroup.com 
Subject: Regarding 20+ Acres 110 Cullen Blvd

Item V.B. 72



2

--

Dear Sir, 

We have been given permission from the City of Pearland for a Curb Cut off of Mchard Road to access our property. 

Regards 
Mohsin Rasheed 
832 922-7951

--

Mohsin Rasheed 
832 922-7951

Item V.B. 73



Tax Statements 

Item V.B. 74



Item V.B. 75



Item V.B. 76



Item V.B. 77



Item V.B. 78



Item V.B. 79



Item V.B. 80



Item V.B. 81



Item V.B. 82



Item V.B. 83



Item V.B. 84



Item V.B. 85



Item V.B. 86



 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Site Map 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Item V.B. 87



Item V.B. 88



Item V.B. 89



Item V.B. 90



Item V.B. 91



Marketing Information

Item V.B. 92



Item V.B. 93



Item V.B. 94



 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Location & Flood Map 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Item V.B. 95



Property Address
City County State Zip Code

Form MAP LT.LOC — "WinTOTAL" appraisal software by a la mode, inc. — 1-800-ALAMODE

Location Map

110 Cullen Blvd
Pearland Brazoria TX 77581
Individual - Moshin Rasheed

Borrower

Client

Form MAP LT.LOC — "WinTOTAL" appraisal software by a la mode, inc. — 1-800-ALAMODE

Location Map

110 Cullen Blvd
Pearland Brazoria TX 77581
Individual - Moshin Rasheed

Borrower

Client

Property Address
City County State Zip Code

Page #1Main File No. 0005223

Item V.B. 96



Property Address
City County State Zip Code

Form MAP LT.FLOOD — "WinTOTAL" appraisal software by a la mode, inc. — 1-800-ALAMODE

Flood Map

110 Cullen Blvd
Pearland Brazoria TX 77581
Individual - Moshin Rasheed

Borrower

Client

Form MAP LT.FLOOD — "WinTOTAL" appraisal software by a la mode, inc. — 1-800-ALAMODE

Flood Map

110 Cullen Blvd
Pearland Brazoria TX 77581
Individual - Moshin Rasheed

Borrower

Client

Property Address
City County State Zip Code

Page #2Main File No. 0005223

Item V.B. 97



CoStar Information

Item V.B. 98



Item V.B. 99



Item V.B. 100



LoopNet Information

Item V.B. 101



Item V.B. 102



Item V.B. 103



 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contact Sheet 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Item V.B. 104



Item V.B. 105



Item V.B. 106



Item V.B. 107



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Real Estate Investor Survey 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item V.B. 108



Item V.B. 109



Market Studies

Item V.B. 110



Item V.B. 111



Houston Metro Submarket Addenda

Item V.B. 112



Item V.B. 113



Item V.B. 114



Item V.B. 115



Item V.B. 116



Item V.B. 117



Item V.B. 118



Item V.B. 119



Item V.B. 120



Item V.B. 121



Item V.B. 122



Item V.B. 123



Item V.B. 124



Item V.B. 125



Item V.B. 126



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Assumptions & Limiting Conditions 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item V.B. 127



ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS

This appraisal report has been made with the following general assumptions:

1. Any legal description or plats reported herein are assumed to be accurate. Any sketches, surveys plats,
photographs, drawings or other exhibits are included only to assist the intended user to better understand and
visualize the subject property, the environs, and the competitive data. We have made no survey of the property
and assume no responsibility in connection with such matters.

2. The appraiser has not conducted any engineering or architectural surveys in connection with this appraisal
assignment. Information reported pertaining to dimensions, sizes, and areas is either based on measurements
taken by the appraiser or the appraisers staff or was obtained or taken from referenced sources and is considered
reliable. No responsibility is assumed for the costs of preparation or for arranging geotechnical engineering,
architectural, or other types of studies, surveys, or inspections that require the expertise of a qualified
professional.

3. No responsibility is assumed for matter legal in nature. Title is assumed to be good and marketable in fee simple
unless otherwise stated in the report. The property is considered to be free and clear of existing liens, easements,
restrictions, encumbrances, except as stated.

4. Unless otherwise stated herein, it is assumed there are no encroachments or violations of any zoning or other
regulations affecting the subject property and the utilization of the land and improvements is within the
boundaries or property lines of the property described and that there are no trespasses or encroachments.

5. The Murphy Appraisal Group, LLC assumes there are no private deed restrictions affecting the property which
would limit the uses of the subject property in any way.

6. It is assumed the subject property is not adversely affected by the potential of floods; unless otherwise stated
herein.

7. It is assumed all water and sewer facilities (existing and proposed) are or will be in good working order and are
or will be of sufficient size to adequately serve any proposed buildings.

8. Unless otherwise stated within the report, the depiction of the physical condition of the improvements described
herein is based on visual inspection. No liability is assumed for the condition of mechanical equipment,
plumbing, or electrical components, as complete tests were not made. No responsibility is assumed for hidden,
unapparent or masked property conditions or characteristics that were not clearly apparent during our inspection

9. If building improvements are present on the site, no significant evidence of termite damage or infestation was
observed during our physical inspection, unless so stated in the report. No termite inspection report was
available, unless so stated in the report. No responsibility is assumed for hidden damages or infestation.

10. Any proposed or incomplete improvements included in this report are assumed to be satisfactorily completed in a
workmanlike manner or will be thus completed within a reasonable length of time according to plans and
specifications submitted.

Item V.B. 128



ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS

2
The Murphy Appraisal Group, LLC

11. No responsibility is assumed for hidden defects of for conformity to specific governmental requirements, such as
fire, building, safety, earthquake, or occupancy codes, except where specific professional or governmental
inspections have been completed and reported in the appraisal report.

12. Responsible ownership and competent property management is assumed.

13. The appraisers assume no responsibility for any changes in economic or physical conditions which occur
following the effective date of value within this report that would influence or potentially affect the analyses,
opinion, or conclusions in the report. Any subsequent changes are beyond the scope of the report.

14. The value estimates reported herein apply to the entire property. Any proration or division of the total into
fractional interests will invalidate the value estimates, unless such proration or division of interests is set forth in
the report.

15. Any division of the land and improvement values estimated herein is applicable only under the program of
utilization shown. These separate valuations are invalidated by any other application.

16. Unless otherwise stated in the report, only the real property is considered, so no consideration is given to the
value of personal property or equipment located on the premises or the costs of moving or relocating such
personal property or equipment.

17. Unless otherwise stated, it is assumed that there is no subsurface oil, gas or other mineral deposits or subsurface
rights of value involved in the appraisal, whether they are gas, liquid, or solid. Nor are the rights associated with
extraction or exploration of such elements considered; unless otherwise stated. Unless otherwise stated it is also
assumed that there are no air or development rights of value that may be transferred.

18. Any projections of income and expenses, including the reversion at time of resale, are not predictions of the
future. Rather, they are our best estimate of current market thinking of what future trends will be. No warranty or
representation is made that these projections will materialize. The real estate market is constantly fluctuating and
changing. It is not the task of an appraiser to estimate the conditions of a future real estate market, but rather to
relect what the investment community envisions for the future in terms of expectations of growth in rental rates,
expenses, and supply and demand. The forecasts, projections, or operating estimates contained herein are based
on current market conditions, anticipated short-term supply and demand factors, and a continued stable economy.
These forecasts are, therefore, subject to changes with future conditions.

19. Unless subsoil opinions based upon engineering core borings were furnished, it is assumed there are no subsoil
defects present, which would impair development of the land to its maximum permitted use or would render it
more or less valuable. No responsibility is assumed for such conditions of for engineering which may be required
to discover them.

20. The Murphy Appraisal Group, LLC representatives are not experts in determining the presence or absence of
hazardous substances, defined as all hazardous or toxic material, wastes, pollutants, or contaminants (including,
but not limited to, asbestos, PCB, UFFI, or other raw materials or chemicals) used in construction or otherwise
present on the property. We assume no responsibility for the studies or analyses which would be required to
determine the presence or absence of such substances of for loss as a result of the presence of such substances.
Appraisers are not qualified to detect such substances. The client is urged to retain an expert in this field.

21. We are not experts in determining the habitat for protected or endangered species, including, but not limited to,
animal or plant life (such as bald eagles, gophers, tortoises, etc.) that may be present on the property. We assume
no responsibility for the studies or analyses which would be required to determine the presence or absence of
such species or for loss as a result of the presence of such species. The appraiser herby reserves the right to alter,

Item V.B. 129



ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS

3
The Murphy Appraisal Group, LLC

amend, revises, or rescind any of the value opinions based upon any subsequent endangered species impact
studies, research, and investigation that may be provided.

22. No environmental impact studies were either requested or made in conjunction with this analysis. The appraiser
hereby reserves the right to alter, amend, revise, or rescind any of the value opinions based upon any subsequent
environmental impact studies, research, and investigation that may be provided.

23. The appraisal is based on the premise that there is full compliance with the applicable federal, state, and local
environmental regulations and laws unless otherwise stated in the report; further, that all applicable zoning,
building, and use regulations and restrictions of all types have been complied with unless otherwise stated in the
report; further, it is assumed that all required licenses, consents, permits, or other legislative or administrative
authority, local, state, federal and/or private entity or organization have been or can obtained or renewed for any
use considered in the value estimate.

24. Neither all nor part of the contents of this report or copy thereof, shall be conveyed to the public through
advertising, public relation, news, sales, or any other media, without the prior written consent and approval of the
appraiser. This limitation pertains to any valuation conclusions, the identity of the analyst or the firm and any
reference to the professional organization of which the appraiser is affiliated or to the designations thereof.

25. Although the appraiser has made, insofar as is practical, every effort to verify as factual and true all information
and data set forth in this report, no responsibility is assumed for the accuracy of any information furnished the
appraiser either by the client or others. If for any reason, future investigations should prove any data to be in
substantial variance with that presented in this report, the appraiser reserves the right to alter or change any or all
analyses, opinions, or conclusions, and/or estimates of value.

26. If this report has been prepared in a so-called “public non-disclosure” state, real estate sales prices and other data,
such as rents, prices, and financing, are not a matter of public record. If this such a “non-disclosure” state,
although extensive effort has been expended to verify pertinent data with buyers, seller, brokers, lenders, lessors,
lessees, and other source considered reliable, it has not always been possible to independently verify all
significant facts. In these instances, the appraiser may have relied on verification obtained and reported by
appraisers outside of our office. Also, as necessary, assumptions and adjustments have been made based on
comparisons and analyses using data in the report and on interviews with market participants. The information
furnished by others is believed to be reliable, butt no warranty is given for its accuracy.

27. The American Disability Act (ADA) became effective January 26, 1992. The appraiser has not made a specific
compliance survey or analysis of the property to determine whether or not it is in conformity with the various
detailed requirements of ADA. It is possible that a compliance survey of the property and a detailed analysis of
the requirements of the ADA would reveal that the property is not in compliance with one or more of the
requirements of the act. If so, this fact could have a negative impact upon the value of the property. Since the
appraiser has no direct evidence relating to this issue, possible noncompliance with the requirements of ADA
was not considered in estimating the value of the property.

28. This appraisal report has been prepared for the exclusive benefit of the client. It may not be used or relied upon
by any other party. Any other party who is not the identified client within this report who uses of relies upon any
information in this report does so at their own risk.

29. The dollar amount of any value opinion herein rendered is based upon the purchasing power and price of the
United States Dollar as of the effective date of value. This appraisal is based on market conditions existing as of
the date of this appraisal.

30. The right is reserved by the appraiser to make adjustments to the analyses, opinions, and conclusions set forth in
this report as may be required by consideration of additional or more reliable data that may become available. No

Item V.B. 130



ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS

4
The Murphy Appraisal Group, LLC

change of this report shall be made by anyone other than the appraiser or appraisers. The appraiser(s) shall have
no responsibility for any unauthorized change(s) to the report.

31. If the client instructions to the appraiser were to inspect only the exterior of the improvement in the appraisal
process, the physical attributes of the property were observed from the street(s) as of the inspection date of the
appraisal. Physical characteristics of the property were obtained from tax assessment records, available plans, if
any, descriptive information and interviewing the client and other knowledgeable persons. It is assumed the
interior of the subject property is consistent with the exterior conditions observed and that other information
relied upon is accurate.

32. The submission of this report constitutes completion of the services authorized. It is submitted on the condition
the client will provide reasonable notice and customary compensation, including expert witness fees, relating to
any subsequent required attendance at conferences, depositions and judicial or administrative proceedings. In the
event the appraiser is subpoenaed for either an appearance or a request to produce documents, a best effort will
be made to notify the client immediately. The client has the sole responsibility for obtaining a protective order,
providing legal instruction not to appear with the appraisal report and related work files and will answer all
questions pertaining to the assignment, the preparation of the report, and the reasoning used to formulate the
estimate of value. Unless paid in whole or in part by the party issuing the subpoena or by another party of interest
in the matter, the client is responsible for all unpaid fees resulting from the appearance or production of
documents regardless of who orders the work.

33. Use of this appraisal report constitutes acknowledgement and acceptance of the general assumptions and limiting
conditions, special assumptions (if any), extraordinary assumptions (if any), and hypothetical conditions (if any)
on which this estimate of market value is based.

34. If provided, the estimated insurable value is included at the request of the client and has not been performed by a
qualified insurance agent or risk management underwriter. This cost estimate should not be solely relied upon for
insurable value purposes. The appraisers are not familiar with the definition of insurable value from the insurance
provider, the local governmental underwriting regulations, or the types of insurance coverage available. These
factors can impact cost estimates and are beyond the scope of the intended use of this appraisal. The appraisers
are not cost experts in cost estimating for insurance purposes.

Item V.B. 131



GLOSSARY

Item V.B. 132



Assessed Value: The value of a property according to the tax rolls in ad
valorem taxation; may be higher or lower than market value, or based
on an assessment ratio that is a percentage of market value.

Asset:
1. Generally, something that can be converted to cash or other

economic equivalent
2. Any owned property that has economic value, including

financial assets (cash or bonds), business interests,
intangible assets (copyrights and trademarks), and physical
assets (real and personal property)

3. In general business usage, something owned by a business
and reflected in the owner’s balance sheet.

Asset: A resource controlled by the entity as a result of past events and
from which future economic benefits are expected to flow to the entity.

Capital Expenditure: Investments of cash (or the creation of liability)
to acquire or improve an asset, e.g., land, buildings, building additions,
site improvements, machinery, equipment; as distinguished from cash
outflows for expense items that are normally considered part of the
current period’s operations.

Cash Equivalency: An analytical process in which the sale price of a
transaction with nonmarket financing or financing with unusual
conditions or incentives is converted into a price expressed in terms of
cash.

Client: The party or parties who engage an appraiser (by employment
or contract) in a specific assignment (USPAP)

Cost Approach: A set of procedures through which a value indication
is derived for the fee simple interest in a property by estimating the
current cost to construct a reproduction of ( or replacement for) the
existing structure, including an entrepreneurial incentive, deducting
depreciation from the total cost, and adding the estimated land value.
Adjustments may then be made to the indicated fee simple value of the
subject property to reflect the value of the property interest being
appraised.

Credible: Worthy of belief. Credible assignment results require
support, by relevant evidence and logic, to the degree necessary for the
intended use. (USPAP, 2010-2011 1ed).

Deferred Maintenance: Needed repairs or replacement of items that
should have taken place during the course of normal maintenance.

Disposition Value: The most probably price that a specified interest in
real property should bring under the following conditions: 1)
Consummation of a sale within a future exposure time specified by the
client. 2) The property is subjected to market conditions prevailing as
of the date of valuation. 3) Both the buyer and seller are acting
prudently and knowledgeably. 4) The seller is under compulsion to sell.
5) The buyer is typically motivated. 6) Both parties are acting in what
they consider to be their best interests. 7) An adequate marketing effort
will be made during the exposure time specified by the client. 8)
Payment will be made in cash in U.S. dollars or in terms of financial
arrangements comparable therto. 9) The price represents the normal
consideration of the property sold, unaffected by special or creative
financing or sales concessions granted by anyone associated with the
sale. The definition can also be modified to provide for valuation with
specified financing terms.

Economic Life: The period over which improvements to real property
contribute to property value.

Effective Date: 10 The date on which the analyses, opinions, and
advice in the appraisal, review, or consulting service apply. 2) In a
lease document, the date upon which the lease foes into effect.

Effective Gross Income Multiplier (EGIM): The ratio between the
sale price (or value) of a property and its effective gross income.

Effective Rent: The rental rate net of financial concessions such as
periods of no rent during the lease term and above-or-below –market
tenant improvements (TIs)

Exposure Time: 1) The time a property remains on the market. 2)The
estimated length of time the property interest being appraised would have
been offered on the market prior to the hypothetical consummation of a sale
at market value on the effective date of the appraisal; a retrospective
estimate based on the analysis of past events assuming a competitive and
open market.

Extraordinary Assumptions: An assumption, directly related to a specific
assignment, which, if found to be false, could alter the appraiser’s opinions
or conclusions. Extraordinary assumptions presume as fact otherwise
uncertain information about physical, legal, or economic characteristics of
the subject property; ir about conditions external to the property such as
market conditions or trends’ or about the integrity of data used in all
analysis. (USPAP 2010-2011 1ed.)

Fair Share: That portion of total market supply accounted for by a subject
property. For example, a 100-key hotel in a 1,000-key market has a fair
share of 10%.

Fair Value: The price that would be received to sell an asset of paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date.

Fee Simple Estate: Absolute ownership unencumbered by any other interest
or estate, subject only to the limitations imposed by the governmental
powers of taxation, eminent domain, police power, and escheat.

Floor Area Ration (FAR): The relationship between the above-ground
floor area of a building, as described by the building code, and the area of
the plot on which it stands; in planning and zoning, often expressed as a
decimal, e.g., a ration 2.0 indicates that the permissible floor area of a
building is twice the total land area; also called land-to-building ratio.

Going-Concern Value: 1) The market value of all tangible and intangible
assets of an established and operating business with an indefinite life, as if
sold to aggregate; more accurately termed the market value of the going
concern. 2) The value of an operating business enterprise. Goodwill may be
separately measured but is an integral component of going-concern value
when it exists and is recognizable.

Gross Building Area (GBA): The total floor area of a building excluding
unenclosed areas, measured from the exterior of the wall of the above-grade
area. This includes mezzanines and basements if and when typically
included in the region.

Highest and Best Use: The reasonably probable and legal use of vacant
land or an improved property, that is physically possible, appropriately
supported, financially feasible, and that results in the highest value. The four
criteria the highest and best use must meet are legal permissibility, physical
possibility, financial feasibility, and maximum productivity. Alternatively,
the probable use of land or improved property-specific with respect to the
user and timing of the use – that is adequately supported and results in the
highest present value.

Hypothetical Condition: That which is contrary to what exists but is
supposed for the purpose of analysis. Hypothetical conditions assume
conditions contrary to known facts about physical, legal, or economic
characteristics of the subject property, such as market conditions or trends;
or about the integrity of data used in an analysis (USPAP, 2010-2011 1 ed.)

Income Capitalization Approach: A set of procedures through which an
appraiser derives a value indication for an income-producing property by
converting in anticipated benefits (cash flows and reversion) into property
value. The conversion can be accomplished in two ways. One year’s income
expectancy can be capitalized at a market-derived capitalization rate or at a
capitalization rate that reflects a specified income pattern, return on
investment, and change in the value of the investment. Alternatively, the
annual cash flows for the holding period and the reversion can be discounted
at a specified yield rate.

Inspection: Personal observation of the exterior and/or interior of the real
property that is the subject of an assignment. The purpose of an appraiser’s
inspection is to identify the property characteristics that are relevant to the
assignment such as amenities, general physical condition, and functional
utility.

Item V.B. 133



Insurable Value: A type of value for insurance purposes.

Intangible Assets: Assets that manifest themselves by their economic
properties; they do not have physical substance; they grant rights and
privileges to their owner, and usually generate income for their owner.
Intangible assets can be categorized as arising from: Rights; Relationships;
Grouped Intangibles; or Intellectual Property. In general, the accounting
profession limits recognition of individual intangible assets to those that are:
commonly recognizable: have a statutory or contractual remaining life;
and/or must be individually transferrable and separable from the business.
And identifiable non-monetary asset without physical substance.

Intangible Property: Nonphysical assets, including but not limited to
franchises, trademarks, patents, copy-rights, goodwill, equities, securities,
and contracts as distinguished from physical assets such as facilities and
equipment. (USPAP, 2010-2011 1 ed.)

Intended Use: The manner in which the intended user expects to employee
the information contained in the report.

Intended User: 1) The client and any other party as identified, by name or
type, as users of the appraisal, appraisal review, or appraisal consulting
report by the appraiser on the basis of communication with the client at the
time of the assignment. (USPAP, 2010-2011 1 ed.) 2) A party who the
appraiser intends will employ the information contained in a report.

Internal Rate of Return (“IRR”): The annualized yield rate or rate of
return on capital that is generated or capable of being generalized within an
investment of portfolio over a period of ownership. Alternatively, the
indicated return of capital associated with a projected or pro forma income
stream. The discount rate that equates the present value of the net cash flows
of a project with the present value of the capital investment. It is the rate at
which the Net Present Value (NPV) equals zero. The IRR reflects both the
return on invested capital and the return of the original investment, which
are basic considerations of potential investors. Therefore, deriving the IRR
from analysis of market transactions of similar properties having comparable
income patterns is a proper method for developing market discount rates for
use in valuations to arrive at Market Value. Used in discounted cash flow
analysis to find the implied or expected rate of return of the project, the IRR
is the rate of return which gives a zero net present value (NPV). See also
equity yield rate (YE); financial management rate of return (FMRR);
modified internal rate of return (MIRR); yield rat (Y)>

Investment Value: The value of a property interest to a particular investor
or class of investor’s based on the investor’s specific requirements.
Investment value may be different from market value because it depends on
a set of investment criteria that are not necessarily typical of the market.

Leasehold Interest: The tenant’s possessory interest created by a lease. See
also negative leasehold; positive leasehold.

Leased Fee Interest: A freehold (ownership interest) where the possessory
interest has been granted to another party by creation of a contractual
landlord relationship (i.e., a lease).

Liquidation Value: The most probably price that a specified interest in real
property should bring under the following conditions: 1) Consummation of a
sale within a short time period; 2) The property is subjected to market
conditions prevailing as of the date of valuation; 3) Both the buyer and the
seller are acting prudently and knowledgeably; 4) The seller is under
extreme compulsion to sell; 5) The buyer typically motivated; 6) Both
parties are acting in what they consider to be their best interests; 7) A normal
marketing effort is not possible due to the brief exposure time; *8) Payment
will be made in cash in U.S. dollars or in terms of financial arrangements
comparable thereto; 9) The price represents the normal consideration for the
property sold, unaffected by special or creative financing or sales
concessions granted by anyone associated with the sale. The definition can
also be modified to provide for valuation with specified financing terms.

Load Factor: A measure of the relationship of common area to useable area
and therefore the quality and efficiency of building area layout, with higher
load factors indicating a higher percentage of common area to overall
rentable space than lower load factors; calculated by subtracting the amount
of usable area from the rentable area and then dividing the difference by the
usable area:

Market Value: The major focus of most real property appraisal
assignments. Both economic and legal definitions of market value have been
developed and refined.

1. The most widely accepted components of market value are
incorporated in the following definition: The most probably
price that the specified property interest should sell for in a
competitive market after a reasonable exposure time, as of a
specified date, in cash, or in terms equivalent to cash, under all
conditions requisite to a fair sale, with the buyer and seller each
acting prudently, knowledgeably, for self-interest, and
assuming that neither is under duress.

2. Market Value is described in the Uniform Standards of
Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) as follows: A type of
value, stated as an opinion, that presumes the transfer of a
property (i.e., a right of ownership or a bundle of such rights),
as of a certain date, under specific conditions set forth in the
definition of the term identified by the appraiser as applicable in
an appraisal. (USPAP, 2010-2011 1ed.) USPAP also requires
that certain items be included in every appraisal report. Among
these items, the following are directly related to the definition
of market value:

� Identification of the specific property rights to be appraised.
� Statement of the effective date of the value opinion.
� Specification as to whether cash, terms equivalent to cash, or

other precisely described financing terms are assumed as the
basis of the appraisal.

� If the appraisal is conditioned upon financing or other terms,
specification as whether the financing or terms are at, below, or
above market interest rates and/or other special incentives must
be clearly set forth; their contribution to, or negative influence
on, value must be described and estimated; and the market data
supporting the opinion of value must be described and
explained.

3. The following definition of market value is used by agencies
that regulate federally insured financial institutions in the
United States: The most probably price that a property should
bring in a competitive and open market under all conditions
requisite to a fair sale, the buy and seller each acting prudently
and knowledgeably, and assuming the price is not affected by
undue stimulus. Implicit in this definition is the consummation
of a sale as of a specified date and the passing of title from
seller to buyer under conditions whereby:

� Buyer and seller are typically motivated;
� Bother parties are well informed or well advised,

and acting in what they consider their best interests
� A reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the

open market;
� payment is made in terms of cash in U.S. dollars or

in terms of financial arrangements comparable
thereto: and

� The prices represents the normal consideration for
the property sold unaffected by special or creative
financing or sales concessions granted by anyone
associated with the sale. (12 C.F.R. Part 34.42(g);
55 Federal Register 34696, August 24. 1990, as
amended at 57 Federal Register 12202, April 9,
1992; 59 Federal Register 29499, June 1994)

4. The International Valuation Standards Council defines market
value for the purpose of international standards as follows: The
estimated amount for which a property should exchange on the
date of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in
an arm’s-length transaction after proper marketing wherein the
parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently, and without
compulsion. (International Valuation Standards, 8th ed., 2007)

5. Market Value is the amount in cash, or in terms reasonably
equivalent to cash, for which in all probability the property
would have sold on the effective date of the appraisal, after a
reasonable exposure time on the open competitive market, from
a willing and reasonably knowledgeable seller to a a willing
and reasonably knowledgeable buyer, with neither acting under
any compulsion to buy or sell, giving the consideration to all
available economic uses of the property at the time of the
appraisal (Uniform Standards for Federal Land Acquisitions)

Market Value “As If Complete” On the Appraisal Date: Market values
as if complete on the effective date of the appraisal is an estimate of the
market value of a property with all construction, conversion, or
rehabilitation hypothetically completed, or under specified hypothetical

Item V.B. 134



conditions as of the date of the appraisal/ With regard to properties wherein
anticipated market conditions indicate the stabilized occupancy is not likely
as of the date of completion, this estimate of value should reflect the market
value of the property as if complete and prepared for occupancy by tenants.

Market Value “As Is” On the Appraisal Date: Value As Is- The value of
specific ownership rights to an identified parcel of real estate as of the
effective date of the appraisal; relates to what physically exists and is legally
permissible and excludes all assumptions concerning hypothetical market
conditions or possible rezoning. See also effective date; prospective value
opinion.

Market Value of the Total Assets of the Business: The market value of the
total assets of the business is the market value of all the tangible and
intangible assets of a business as if sold in aggregate as a going concern.
This assumes that the business is expected to continue operations well into
the future.

Marketing Time: An opinion of the amount of time it might take to sell a
real or personal property interest at the concluded market value level during
the period immediately after the effective date of an appraisal. Marketing
time differs from exposure time, which is always presumed to precede the
effective date of an appraisal. (Advisory Opinion 7 of the Appraisal
Standards No. 6, “Reasonable Exposure Time in Real Property Market
Value Opinions” addresses the determination of reasonable exposure and
marketing time.)

Net Lease: A lease in which the landlord passes on all expenses to the
tenant. Also called the modified gross lease. See also: lease.

Net Rentable Area (NRA): 1) The area on which rent is computed. 2) The
rentable area of a floor shall be computed by measuring to the inside
finished surface of the dominant portion of the permanent outer building
walls, excluding any major vertical penetrations of the floor. No deductions
shall be made for columns and projections necessary to the building/ Include
space such as mechanical room, janitorial room, restrooms, and lobby of the
floor.

Penetration Ratio (Rate): The rate at which stores obtain scales from
within a trade area or sector relative to the number of potential sales
generated; usually applied to existing facilities. Also called: penetration
factor.

Prospective opinion of value: A value opinion effective as of a specified
future date. The term does not define a type of value. Instead it identifies a
value opinion as being effective at some specific future date. An opinion of
value as of a prospective date is frequently sought in connection with
projects that are proposed, under construction, or under conversion to a new
use, or those that have not yet achieved sellout or a stabilized level of long-
term occupancy.

Reconciliation: The process of reducing a range of value indications into an
appropriate conclusion for that analysis, e.g., the derivation of a value
indication from the adjusted prices of two or more comparable sales in the
sales comparison.

Reliable Measurement: [the IAS/FRS framework requires that] neither an
asset nor a liability is recognized in the financial statements unless it has a
cost or value that can be measured reliably.

Remaining Economic Life: The estimated period during which
improvements will continue to represent the highest and best use of the
property; an estimate of the number of years remaining in the economic life
of the structure or structural components as the date of the appraisal; used in
the economic age-life method of estimating depreciation.

Replacement Cost: The estimated cost to construct, at current prices as of
the effective appraisal date, a substitute of the building being appraised,
using modern material and current standards, design, and layout.

Retrospective Cost: A value opinion effective as of a specified historical
date. The term does not define a type of value. Instead it identifies a value
opinion as being effective at some specific prior date. Values as of a
historical date are frequently sought in connection with property tax appeals,
damage models, lease renegotiation, deficiency judgments, estate tax, and
condemnation. Inclusion of the type of value with this term is appropriate,
e.g. “retrospective market value opinion”.

Sales Comparison Approach: The process of deriving a value indication
for the subject property by comparing market information for similar

properties with the property being appraised, identifying appropriate units of
comparison , and making quantitative comparisons with or quantitative
adjustments to the sales price (or unit prices, as appropriate) of the
comparable properties based on relevant, market-derived elements of
comparison.

Scope of Work: The type and extent of research and analysis in an
assignment. (USPAP, 2010-2011 1 ed.)

Self-Contained Appraisal Report: A written appraisal report prepared
under Standards Rule 2-2(a) of the Uniform Standards of Professional
Appraisal Practice (USPAP 2010-2011 1ed.) A self-contained appraisal
report sets forth the data considered, the appraisal procedures followed, and
the reasoning employed in the appraisal, addressing each item in the depth
and detail requires by it significance to the appraisal and providing the
sufficient information s that the client and the users of the report will
understand the appraisal and not be misled or confused.

Stabilized Value: A value opinion that excludes the consideration any
abnormal relationship between supply and demand such as is experienced in
boom periods when cost and sale price may exceed the long-term value, or
during periods of depression, when cost and sale price may fall short of
long-term value. It is also a value opinion that excludes from consideration
any transitory condition that may cause excessive construction costs, e.g., a
premium paid due to a temporary shortage of supply.

Substitution: The principle of substitution states that when several similar
or commensurate commodities, good, services are available, the one with the
lowest price will attract the greatest demand and widest distribution. This is
the primary principle upon which the cost and sales comparison approaches
are base.

Total Assets of a Business: Total assets of a business is defined by the
Appraisal Institute as “the tangible property (real property and personal
property, including inventory and furniture, fixtures and equipment) and
intangible property (cash, workforce, contracts, name, patents, copyrights,
and other residual intangible assets, to include capitalized economic profit)”

Use Value: In real estate appraisal, the value a specific property has for a
specific use; may be the highest and best use of the property or some other
use specified as a condition of the appraisal,

Item V.B. 135



Item V.B. 136



4813 W. Broadway                                                                                            Fax (281) 4850065                                                
Pearland, Texas 77581                        www.bdd4.org 

(281) 485-1434                                                              

                           

Brazoria Drainage District No. 4 
____________________________________________________________________________________________  

A Political Subdivision of the State of Texas 

 
 

 
 
May 26, 2020 
 
 
 
Board of Commissioners 
Brazoria Drainage District No. 4 
4813 W Broadway St. 
Pearland, Texas  77581 
 
Re: Property Acquisition- 14.2487 Acres located on Clear Creek, west of Roy Rd and east of Sheldon 
Road 
 
Dear Commissioners, 
 
The appraisal report for the above mentioned tract of land was received on May 15, 2020. The findings 
of this report estimate the value of this the property to be $775,000 and is attached for review. The land 
is currently advertised for sale on the open market for $800,000.  
 
In discussions between the owner and the District, the owner is willing to accept a sales price of 
$600,000 for the 14.2487 acre tract if purchased concurrently with the 20.03 acre tract located on Clear 
Creek adjacent to Countryplace Ditch also offered for sale.  
 
 
District staff recommends the purchase of this property for much needed right of way access and 
detention improvements to the Clear Creek watershed.   
 
Thank you, 
 

John Genaro 
 
John Genaro 

 

Item V.C. 137



Item V.C. 138



Integra Realty Resources 
Houston 
 
Appraisal of a 14.2487 Acre Tract of Land  
 
Property Owner: Taha Development, LLC 

Prepared For: 
Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 
4813 West Broadway 
Pearland, TX 77581 
Attn: Mr. Leigh Blumer 

Effective Date of the Appraisal: 
May 12, 2020 

Item V.C. 139



 

 

 
 

 
 
Taha Development, LLC 

Item V.C. 140



 

Integra Realty Resources 9225 Katy Freeway T 713.973.0212 
Houston Suite 206 F 713.973.2028 
 Houston, TX 77024 www.irr.com 
   

 

May 14, 2020 
 
Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 
4813 West Broadway 
Pearland, TX 77581 
Attn: Mr. Leigh Blumer 
 
SUBJECT: Appraisal of the Subject Property for Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 
  Property Owner: Taha Development, LLC 
 
Dear Mr. Blumer: 
 
Integra Realty Resources – Houston is pleased to submit the accompanying appraisal of the 
referenced property.  The purpose of this appraisal is to estimate the market value of the 
Subject Property. The Subject Property may be legally described as:  
 

An approximate 14.2487-acre tract of land, being out of Allison Richey Gulf 
Coast Home Company Suburban Garden Subdivision, Section 9, situated in the 
H.T. & B.R.R. Survey, Abstract No. 234, Brazoria County, Texas. 
 

The Subject Property is located at the termination of Roy Road, south of South Sam Houston 
Parkway E and is a vacant tract of land. This appraisal determines the value for the Subject 
Property described herein.   
 
This appraisal is intended to conform with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal 
Practice (USPAP), the Code of Professional Ethics and Standards of Professional Appraisal 
Practice of the Appraisal Institute, applicable state appraisal regulations, and the appraisal 
guidelines of the client, if any.  
 
The accompanying report of which this letter is a part describes the site, purpose and 
method of appraisal, and the data considered in reaching our final value conclusion.  A 
complete appraisal was performed on the Subject Property.   
 
 

Item V.C. 141



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 
May 14, 2020 
Page 2 
 

 

Based on the valuation analysis in the accompanying report, and subject to the definitions, 
assumptions, and limiting conditions expressed in the report, our opinion of just 
compensation, as of the date of value, is as follows: 
 
Summary of Just Compensation 

Value of Subject Property: $ 775,840 
Total Just Compensation: $ 775,840 
 
IMPORTANT MARKET CONDITIONS WARNING: Market Uncertainty from Novel Coronavirus 
(COVID-19) 
  
The outbreak of the Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19), declared an outbreak by the World 
Health Organization (WHO) on January 30, 2020 and subsequently reclassified as a 
worldwide pandemic on March 11, 2020, has created substantial uncertainty in the 
worldwide financial markets.  Concerns about the ongoing spread of the COVID-19 (Corona) 
Virus have resulted in cancellations of a substantial number of business meetings, 
conferences, and sporting and entertainment events in the coming 3-6 months; the 
implementation of personal quarantine procedures; a 30-day lock-out for travel from most 
of Europe to the U.S.; and substantial reductions (and restrictions) in other travel by air, rail, 
bus, and ship. 
  
As of the effective date of this report, tourism, lodging, and tourist-related food and 
beverage and retail sectors are likely to feel the first negative effects due to the substantial 
decline in social movement and activity.  A prolonged outbreak could have a significant (and 
yet unquantifiable) impact on other real estate sectors.  Our valuation is based upon the 
best information as of the effective date.   
  
Given the degree of overall uncertainty present in the economy, forecasts and projections 
contained herein may change dramatically, or differently than projected under stable 
market conditions.  Therefore, we recommend a more frequent review of this valuation, and 
advise the intended user to consider the current lack of overall economic stability in 
evaluating the use and reliability of the opinions expressed herein.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item V.C. 142



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 
May 14, 2020 
Page 3 
 

 

If you have any questions or comments, please contact the undersigned. Thank you for the 
opportunity to be of service. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 

INTEGRA REALTY RESOURCES - HOUSTON 
 

 

 

 
Michael W. Welch, SR/WA, R/W-AC, MRICS 
Certified General Real Estate Appraiser 
Texas Certificate # TX-1323054-G 
Telephone: 713-973-0212, ext. 13 
Email: Michael.Welch@irr.com 

 Erica R. Ries 
Certified General Real Estate Appraiser 
Texas Certificate # TX-1380168-G 
Telephone: 713-973-0212, ext. 34 
Email: Erica.Ries@irr.com 

 

Item V.C. 143



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 4 

 

General Information 

Identification of Subject 
The Subject Property encompasses 14.2487 acres or 620,672 square feet (“SF”) of land.  The Subject 
Property is a vacant tract of land. A tax records and warranty deed associated with the Subject 
Property is included in the addenda section of this report. 

Sale History 
Based on information provided by the client, it appears that the Subject Property is owned by the 
Taha Development, LLC.  According to the Brazoria County Appraisal District, the Subject Property was 
transferred to the Taha Development, LLC in February of 2008.  The Subject Property is currently listed 
for $800,000. To the best of our knowledge, no sale or transfer of ownership has taken place within a 
three-year period prior to the effective appraisal date. 

Purpose of the Appraisal 
The purpose of this appraisal is to estimate the market value of the Subject Property. 

Definition of Market Value 
Market Value is defined by the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 1989 
as being: 
 

The most probable price which a property should bring in a competitive and open 
market under all conditions requisite to a fair sale, the buyer and seller each acting 
prudently and knowledgeably, and assuming the price is not affected by undue stimulus.  
Implicit in this definition is the consummation of a sale as of a specified date and the 
passing of title from seller to buyer under conditions whereby: 

 
1. buyer and seller are typically motivated; 
2. both parties are well informed or well advised, and acting in what they consider 

their best interests; 
3. a reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market; 
4. payment is made in terms of cash in United States dollars or in terms of financial 

arrangements comparable thereto; and 
5. the price represents the normal consideration for the property sold unaffected by 

special or creative financing or sales concessions granted by anyone associated 
with the sale. 

Item V.C. 144



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 5 

 

In City of Austin v. Cannizzo, 267 S.W. 2d 808, 815 (Texas 1954), the Texas Supreme Court defined 
market value as: 

…the price which the property would bring when it is offered for sale by one who 
desires, but is not obliged to sell, and is bought by one who is under no necessity of 
buying it, taking into consideration all of the uses to which it is reasonably adaptable 
and for which it either is or in all reasonable probability will become available within the 
reasonable future. 

 
The valuation in this report assumes a transaction involving cash consideration or cash equivalent 
terms.   

Property Rights Appraised 
Fee Simple Estate 

Definition of Property Rights Appraised 
Fee simple estate is defined as: “Absolute ownership unencumbered by any other interest or estate, 
subject only to the limitations imposed by the governmental powers of taxation, eminent domain, 
police power, and escheat.” 

Source: Appraisal Institute, The Dictionary of Real Estate Appraisal, 6th ed. (Chicago: Appraisal 
Institute, 2015) 

Identity of the Client 
The client is Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4.   

Intended Use and User 
The intended use of this appraisal report is to assist in the determination of the market value of the 
Subject Property for internal decision making purposes.  

The intended user is the client and its employees or agents.  This report may also be used by an 
outside consultant that has been hired by the client to assist in the assignment.  The appraisal is not 
intended for any other use or user.  

Item V.C. 145



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 6 

 

Applicable Requirements 
This appraisal is intended to conform to the requirements of the following: 

• Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP); 

• Code of Professional Ethics and Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal 
Institute; 

• Applicable state appraisal regulations; 

• Appraisal guidelines of the client, if any. 

Report Format 
This report is prepared under the Appraisal Report option of Standards Rule 2-2(a) of USPAP. As 
USPAP gives appraisers the flexibility to vary the level of information in an Appraisal Report depending 
on the intended use and intended users of the appraisal, we adhere to the Integra Realty Resources 
internal standards for an Appraisal Report – Standard Format. This format contains the greatest depth 
and detail of IRR’s available report types. 

Prior Services 
USPAP requires appraisers to disclose to the client any other services they have provided in 
connection with the Subject Property in the prior three years, including valuation, consulting, property 
management, brokerage, or any other services.  The persons signing this report have not appraised or 
provided any other services with respect to the Subject Property within the three-year period 
immediately preceding acceptance of this assignment. 

Scope of Work 
To determine the appropriate scope of work for the assignment, we considered the intended use of 
the appraisal, the needs of the user, the complexity of the property, and other pertinent factors. Our 
concluded scope of work is as follows: 

▪ Physically inspected the Subject Property from the existing right of way and the surrounding 
market area.  The inspection of the Subject Property was limited to those things readily 
observable without the use of special testing or equipment.   

 
▪ Collected factual information about the Subject Property and the surrounding market and 

confirmed the information with various sources. 
 

▪ Performed a highest and best use analysis of the Subject Property as vacant and as 
improved, when applicable. 

 
▪ Gathered market data on applicable comparable land sales.  If used in the report, the 

comparable sale information was confirmed with at least one of the parties to the 
transaction.  

 

Item V.C. 146



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 7 

 

▪ Gathered market and/or cost data applicable to the improvements, if any, to be valued. 
 

▪ Analyzed the data and developed indications of value under the necessary approaches to 
value.  The data was analyzed for an appraisal of the Subject Property.   

 
▪ Prepared an appraisal report summarizing our analyses, opinions and conclusions 

Valuation Methodology 

Appraisers usually consider the use of three approaches to value when developing a market value 
opinion for real property. These are the cost approach, sales comparison approach, and income 
capitalization approach. The use of these approaches in this assignment is summarized as follows: 

Approaches to Value 

Approach Applicability to Subject Use in Assignment 

Cost Approach Not Applicable Not Utilized 
Sales Comparison Approach - Improved Not Applicable Not Utilized 
Sales Comparison Approach - Land Only Applicable Utilized 
Income Approach Not Applicable Not Utilized 

 
The Subject Property is a vacant tract of land. 

Inspection 

A property inspection occurred on May 12, 2020.  

 

Item V.C. 147



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 8 

 

Economic Analysis 

Brazoria is 1,358 square miles in size and has a population density of 279 persons per square mile.   

Population 

Brazoria County has an estimated 2020 population of 378,884, which represents an average annual 
1.9% increase over the 2010 census of 313,166. Brazoria County added an average of 6,572 residents 
per year over the 2010-2020 period, and its annual growth rate exceeded the State of Texas rate of 
1.5%. 

Looking forward, Brazoria County's population is projected to increase at a 1.5% annual rate from 
2020-2025, equivalent to the addition of an average of 5,853 residents per year.  Brazoria County's 
growth rate is expected to exceed that of Texas, which is projected to be 1.3%. 

 

Employment 

Total employment in Brazoria County was estimated at 116,600 jobs as of September 2019. Between 
year-end 2009 and 2019, employment rose by 32,631 jobs, equivalent to a 38.9% increase over the 
entire period. There were gains in employment in ten out of the past ten years, as the national 
economy expanded following the downturn of 2007-2009. Brazoria County's rate of employment 
growth over the last decade surpassed that of Texas, which experienced an increase in employment of 
24.2% or 2,455,918 jobs over this period. 

A comparison of unemployment rates is another way of gauging an area’s economic health.  Over the 
past decade, the Brazoria County unemployment rate has been generally higher than that of Texas, 
with an average unemployment rate of 6.0% in comparison to a 5.7% rate for Texas.  A higher 
unemployment rate is a negative indicator. 

Recent data shows that the Brazoria County unemployment rate is 4.3% in comparison to a 3.6% rate 
for Texas, a negative sign for Brazoria County economy but one that must be tempered by the fact 
that Brazoria County has outperformed Texas in the rate of job growth over the past two years. 

Population Compound Ann. % Chng

2010 Census 2020 Estimate 2025 Projection 2010 - 2020 2020 - 2025

Texas 25,145,561 29,321,473 31,265,392 1.5% 1.3%

Brazoria County 313,166 378,884 408,150 1.9% 1.5%

77581 42,762 52,082 56,664 2.0% 1.7%

Source: Environics Analytics

Population Trends

Item V.C. 148



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 9 

 

 

Employment Sectors 

The composition of the Brazoria County job market is depicted in the following chart, along with that 
of Texas. Total employment for both areas is broken down by major employment sector, and the 
sectors are ranked from largest to smallest based on the percentage of Brazoria County jobs in each 
category. 

Employment Trends

Total Employment (Year End) Unemployment Rate (Ann. Avg.)

Year

Brazoria 

County

% 

Change Texas

% 

Change Brazoria County Texas

2009 83,969 10,147,242 8.1% 7.6%

2010 87,745 4.5% 10,363,872 2.1% 8.5% 8.2%

2011 89,587 2.1% 10,611,631 2.4% 8.0% 7.8%

2012 94,219 5.2% 10,964,215 3.3% 6.7% 6.7%

2013 96,221 2.1% 11,248,559 2.6% 6.1% 6.3%

2014 101,823 5.8% 11,672,985 3.8% 5.1% 5.1%

2015 104,680 2.8% 11,831,449 1.4% 4.6% 4.5%

2016 107,277 2.5% 11,972,594 1.2% 5.2% 4.6%

2017 110,226 2.7% 12,224,998 2.1% 5.3% 4.3%

2018 115,332 4.6% 12,539,711 2.6% 4.5% 3.8%

2019* 116,600 1.1% 12,603,160 0.5% 4.2% 3.5%

Overall Change 2009-2019 32,631 38.9% 2,455,918 24.2%

Avg Unemp. Rate 2009-2019 6.0% 5.7%

Unemployment Rate - February 2020 4.3% 3.6%

Source: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics and Moody's Analytics. Employment figures are from the Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages (QCEW). 

Unemployment rates are from the Current Population Survey (CPS). The figures are not seasonally adjusted.

*Total employment data is as of September 2019; unemployment rate data reflects the average of 12 months of 2019.

Item V.C. 149



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 10 

 

 

Brazoria County has greater concentrations than Texas in the following employment sectors: 

1. Government, representing 17.2% of Brazoria County payroll employment compared to 15.0% 
for Texas as a whole. This sector includes employment in local, state, and federal government 
agencies. 

2. Construction, representing 15.6% of Brazoria County payroll employment compared to 6.2% 
for Texas as a whole. This sector includes construction of buildings, roads, and utility systems. 

3. Leisure and Hospitality, representing 11.6% of Brazoria County payroll employment compared 
to 11.1% for Texas as a whole. This sector includes employment in hotels, restaurants, 
recreation facilities, and arts and cultural institutions. 

4. Manufacturing, representing 11.3% of Brazoria County payroll employment compared to 7.2% 
for Texas as a whole. This sector includes all establishments engaged in the manufacturing of 
durable and nondurable goods. 

 

 

 

Employment Sectors - 2019

18.0%

17.2%

15.6%

11.6%

11.3%

10.8%

7.4%

3.3%

2.8%

1.6%

0.4%

19.7%

15.0%

6.2%

11.1%

7.2%

13.4%

14.3%

6.2%

2.7%

2.4%

1.6%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25%

Trade; Transportation; and Utilities

Government

Construction

Leisure and Hospitality

Manufacturing

Education and Health Services

Professional and Business Services

Financial Activities

Other Services

Natural Resources & Mining

Information

Brazoria County Texas

Source: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics and Moody's Analytics

 

Item V.C. 150



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 11 

 

Brazoria County is underrepresented in the following sectors: 

1. Trade; Transportation; and Utilities, representing 18.0% of Brazoria County payroll 
employment compared to 19.7% for Texas as a whole. This sector includes jobs in retail trade, 
wholesale trade, trucking, warehousing, and electric, gas, and water utilities. 

2. Education and Health Services, representing 10.8% of Brazoria County payroll employment 
compared to 13.4% for Texas as a whole. This sector includes employment in public and 
private schools, colleges, hospitals, and social service agencies. 

3. Professional and Business Services, representing 7.4% of Brazoria County payroll employment 
compared to 14.3% for Texas as a whole. This sector includes legal, accounting, and 
engineering firms, as well as management of holding companies. 

4. Financial Activities, representing 3.3% of Brazoria County payroll employment compared to 
6.2% for Texas as a whole. Banking, insurance, and investment firms are included in this 
sector, as are real estate owners, managers, and brokers. 

Gross Domestic Product 

Gross Domestic Product (GDP) is a measure of economic activity based on the total value of goods and 
services produced in a defined geographic area, and annual changes in Gross Domestic Product (GDP) 
are a gauge of economic growth. 

Economic growth, as measured by annual changes in GDP, has been somewhat higher in Brazoria 
County than Texas overall during the past eight years. Brazoria County has grown at a 4.2% average 
annual rate while Texas has grown at a 3.5% rate.   

Brazoria County has a per capita GDP of $42,109, which is 29% less than Texas's GDP of $59,674. This 
means that Brazoria County industries and employers are adding relatively less value to the economy 
than their counterparts in Texas. 

 

Gross Domestic Product

Year

($,000s)

Brazoria County % Change

($,000s)

Texas % Change

2011 11,686,728 1,343,790,900

2012 13,061,392 11.8% 1,411,378,700 5.0%

2013 13,929,756 6.6% 1,472,103,500 4.3%

2014 14,373,118 3.2% 1,523,057,200 3.5%

2015 14,734,188 2.5% 1,596,361,900 4.8%

2016 14,789,436 0.4% 1,600,260,200 0.2%

2017 14,863,653 0.5% 1,646,264,300 2.9%

2018 15,588,622 4.9% 1,712,764,000 4.0%

Compound % Chg (2011-2018) 4.2% 3.5%

GDP Per Capita 2018 $42,109 $59,674

Source: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis and Moody's Analytics; data released December 2019. The release of state and local GDP 

data has a longer lag time than national data. The data represents inflation-adjusted ""real"" GDP stated in 2012 dollars.

 

Item V.C. 151



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 12 

 

Household Income 

Brazoria County is more affluent than Texas. Median household income for Brazoria County is 
$85,456, which is 35.6% greater than the corresponding figure for Texas.  

 

The following chart shows the distribution of households across twelve income levels. Brazoria County 
has a greater concentration of households in the higher income levels than Texas. Specifically, 56% of 
Brazoria County households are at the $75,000 or greater levels in household income as compared to 
42% of Texas households. A lesser concentration of households is apparent in the lower income levels, 
as 20% of Brazoria County households are below the $35,000 level in household income versus 28% of 
Texas households. 

 

 

Median

Brazoria County $85,456

Texas $63,025

Comparison of Brazoria County to Texas + 35.6%

Source: Environics Analytics

Median Household Income - 2020

Household Income Distribution - 2020

10.0%

8.8%

8.9%

12.6%

17.3%

12.3%

9.2%

6.2%

6.5%

3.0%

3.4%

1.6%

7.2%

6.4%

6.4%

8.7%

15.5%

13.4%

11.8%

9.7%

10.2%

4.4%

4.6%

1.8%

0.0% 5.0% 10.0% 15.0% 20.0%

Less than $15,000

$15,000 - $24,999

$25,000 - $34,999

$35,000 - $49,999

$50,000 - $74,999

$75,000 - $99,999

$100,000 - $124,999

$125,000 - $149,999

$150,000 - $199,999

$200,000 - $249,999

$250,000 - 499,999

$500,000 and more

Brazoria County Texas

Source: Environics Analytics

Item V.C. 152



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 13 

 

Education and Age 

Residents of Brazoria County have a slightly higher level of educational attainment than those of 
Texas. An estimated 31% of Brazoria County residents are college graduates with four-year degrees, 
versus 29% of Texas residents. People in Brazoria County are slightly older than their Texas 
counterparts. The median age for Brazoria County is 36 years, while the median age for Texas is 35 
years. 

 

Conclusion 

The Brazoria County economy will benefit from a growing population base and higher income and 
education levels. Brazoria County experienced growth in the number of jobs over the past decade, and 
it is reasonable to assume that employment growth will occur in the future.  We anticipate that the 
Brazoria County economy will improve and employment will grow, strengthening the demand for real 
estate. 

Education & Age - 2020

Source: Environics Analytics

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

Brazoria County Texas

31% 29%

Percent College Graduate

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

Brazoria County Texas

36 35

Median Age

Item V.C. 153



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 14 

 

Area Map 

 

Item V.C. 154



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 15 

 

Neighborhood Description 

 

 
The Subject Property situated in the City of Brookside Village and is in the north portion of Brazoria 
County.  The area is located south of 610 Loop, north of Magnolia Parkway, west of Highway 35 and 
east of Highway 288.  These are all major thoroughfares which serve this area.  Major north/south 
roadways include Cullen Boulevard, Mykawa Road, and Main Street. Primary east/west 
thoroughfares in the subject area include Almeda Genoa Road, FM 518, and Magnolia Street.  
Overall, ingress/egress to the subject neighborhood is considered to be good via the aforementioned 
thoroughfares. 
 
The area is considered as having adequate services necessary to accommodate residents including 
retail shopping, public schools, park areas, and religious facilities.  
 
Development within the neighborhood consists primarily of industrial, commercial, and residential 
developments. Overall, the area is considered to be in a period of steady growth. 

SUBJECT 

Item V.C. 155



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 16 

 

Property Analysis 

Location Map 

 

Item V.C. 156



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 17 

 

Land Description and Site Characteristics 

Location 

The Subject Property is located at the termination of Roy Road, south of South Sam Houston Parkway 
E.  

Legal Description 

An approximate 14.2487-acre tract of land, being out of Allison Richey Gulf Coast Home Company 
Suburban Garden Subdivision, Section 9, situated in the H.T. & B.R.R. Survey, Abstract No. 234, 
Brazoria County, Texas. 

Statement of Ownership 

According to information provided by the client, the Subject Property is owned by the Taha 
Development, LLC.  According to the Brazoria County Appraisal District, the Subject Property was 
transferred to the Taha Development, LLC in February of 2008. 

Shape and Topography 

The Subject Property is irregular in shape and its topography is generally flat and level. 

Flood Hazard Status 

The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) publishes flood insurance rate maps for the 
Brazoria County area.  According to the FEMA Maps (Panel 48039C0030I, dated September 22, 1999), 
the Subject Property is located in flood zone AE, which is inside of the 100-year flood plain. 

Environmental Hazards 

An environmental assessment report was not provided for review, and during our inspection, we did 
not observe any obvious signs of contamination on or near the Subject Property. However, 
environmental issues are beyond our scope of expertise. It is assumed that the Subject Property is not 
adversely affected by environmental hazards. 

Streets, Site Access and Frontage 

The termination of Roy Road provides access to the Subject Property.  Roy Road is a two lane, two-
way asphalt paved roadway, which appears to be in average condition.   

Adjacent Land Use 

The Subject Property is adjacent to residential and vacant tracts.  

Zoning 

The Subject Property is located in the City of Brookside Village and Brazoria County. The City of 
Brookside Village and Brazoria County do not utilize zoning as a form of land use control.  

 

Item V.C. 157



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 18 

 

Other Land Use Regulations 

We are not aware of any other land use regulations that would affect the Subject Property. 

Improvement Description 

The Subject Property is a vacant tract of land.   

Project 

The Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 has requested the market value of the Subject Property 
for use in connection with a potential purchase. 
 

Item V.C. 158



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 19 

 

Subject Photographs 
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

Item V.C. 159



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 20 

 

Highest and Best Use 

Process 

Before a property can be valued, an opinion of highest and best use must be developed for the subject 
site, both as vacant and as improved. By definition, the highest and best use must be: 

• Physically possible. 

• Legally permissible under the zoning regulations and other restrictions that apply to the site. 

• Financially feasible. 

• Maximally productive, i.e., capable of producing the highest value from among the 
permissible, possible, and financially feasible uses. 

Physically Possible Use: A tract’s physical characteristics, including its size, shape, topography and 
subsoil conditions, are important considerations in determining its possible uses.  If a site’s physical 
characteristics make utilization restrictive and costly, the site’s potential future use is adversely 
affected.  The Subject Property is 14.2487 acres (620,672 SF) in size and is irregular in shape. The 
Subject Property’s topography generally flat and level.  Therefore, a number of different uses are 
physically possible on the Subject Property. 

Legally Permissible Use:  The Subject Property is located in the City of Brookside Village in northern 
Brazoria County. The City of Brookside Village and Brazoria County do not utilize zoning as a form of 
land-use control. Therefore, a number of different uses are legally permissible on the Subject 
Property.  

Financially Feasible Use:  Land uses in the surrounding area include residential and some vacant 
tracts. The majority of the improved properties along the road frontage in proximity to the Subject 
Property are improved with residential developments.  There is currently demand for residential land 
within this market.  Therefore, the financially feasible use of the Subject Property is for residential use. 

Maximally Productive Use:  After considering legal permissibility, physical possibilities and financial 
feasibility, maximally productive uses must be considered. It has been determined that the Subject 
Property’s most suitable and probable use is for residential use; therefore, this type of use is 
concluded to be the maximally productive use as well.   

As Vacant  

Based upon our analysis of the market, it is our opinion that the highest and best use of the Subject 
Property as vacant would be for residential use.   

As Improved  

The Subject Property is a vacant tract of land.  Therefore, this analysis is not applicable.   
 

Item V.C. 160



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 21 

 

Valuation 

Valuation Methodology 
Three approaches to estimating the market value of real property are appropriate. These are the cost 
approach, the sales comparison approach and the income capitalization approach. 

The Cost Approach assumes that the informed purchaser would pay no more for a property than the 
cost of producing a substitute property with the same utility. This approach is particularly applicable 
when the improvements being appraised are relatively new and represent the highest and best use of 
the land or when the property being valued has unique or specialized improvements for which there is 
little or no sales data from comparable properties. 

The Sales Comparison Approach – As Improved assumes that an informed purchaser would pay no 
more for a property than the cost of acquiring another existing property with the same utility. This 
approach is especially appropriate when an active market provides sufficient reliable data. The sales 
comparison approach is less reliable in an inactive market or when estimating the value of properties 
for which no directly comparable sales data is available. The sales comparison approach is often relied 
upon for owner-user properties. 

The Sales Comparison Approach – Land Only utilizes sales of properties similar to the subject 
property as the basis for an indication of market value.  Direct comparison is made between each sale 
and the subject on an item-by-item basis. Adjustments are made to the sales price of the comparable 
property to arrive at an indication of what it would have sold for had it been essentially the same as 
the subject property.  These adjusted prices are then reconciled into an indication of value for the 
subject property. 
 
The Income Capitalization Approach reflects the market’s perception of the relationship between a 
property’s potential income and its market value. This approach converts the anticipated net income 
from ownership of a property into a value indication through capitalization. The primary methods are 
direct capitalization and discounted cash flow analysis, with one or both methods applied, as 
appropriate. This approach is widely used in appraising income-producing properties. 

Reconciliation of the various indications into a conclusion of value is based on an evaluation of the 
quantity and quality of available data in each approach and the applicability of each approach to the 
property type. 

Use of these approaches in this assignment is summarized as follows: 

Approaches to Value 

Approach Applicability to Subject Use in Assignment 

Cost Approach Not Applicable Not Utilized 
Sales Comparison Approach - Improved Not Applicable Not Utilized 
Sales Comparison Approach - Land Only Applicable Utilized 
Income Approach Not Applicable Not Utilized 

Item V.C. 161



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 22 

 

Sales Comparison Approach – Land Only 
To develop an opinion of the Subject Property’s land value, as vacant and available to be developed to 
its highest and best use, we utilize the sales comparison approach. This approach develops an 
indication of value by researching, verifying, and analyzing sales of similar properties.  

For this analysis, we use price per square foot as an appropriate unit of comparison because market 
participants typically compare sale prices and property values on this basis. The sales most relevant to 
analyzing the Subject Property’s land value are summarized in the following table: 

Summary of Comparable Land Sales 

No Name/Address 
Sale Date; 

Status 
SF 

Acres 
$ per SF 

Land 

1 3918 Almeda Genoa Road, Houston, TX 
01/13/2020; 

Closed 
419,352 SF 

9.627 Ac 
$2.54/SF 

2 1826 O’Day Road, Pearland, TX 
06/07/2019; 

Closed 
414,081 SF 

9.506 Ac 
$1.24/SF 

3 West line of Roy Road, north of FM 1128 
05/23/2019; 

Closed 
217,800 SF 

5.00 Ac 
$1.03/SF 

4 7429 Fite Road, Pearland, TX 
10/20/2017; 

Closed 
675,803 SF 
15.5143 Ac 

$1.74/SF 

 
Subject Property 
 

 
620,672 SF 
14.2487 Ac 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item V.C. 162



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 23 

 

  
Sale #1 Sale #2 

  
Sale #3 Sale #4 

 
 

 

Item V.C. 163



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 24 

 

Adjustment Factors 

The sales are compared to the Subject Property and adjusted to account for material differences that 
affect value. Adjustments are considered for the following factors, in the sequence shown below. 

Adjustment Factors 

Effective Sale Price Accounts for atypical economics of a transaction, such as demolition 
cost, expenditures by the buyer at time of purchase, or other similar 
factors. Usually applied directly to sale price on a lump sum basis. 

Real Property Rights Fee simple, leased fee, leasehold, partial interest, etc. 

Financing Terms Seller financing, or assumption of existing financing, at non-market 
terms. 

Conditions of Sale Extraordinary motivation of buyer or seller, assemblage, forced sale, 
related parties transaction. 

Market Conditions Changes in the economic environment over time that affect the 
appreciation and depreciation of real estate. 

Location Market or submarket area influences on sale price; surrounding land 
use influences. 

Size Inverse relationship that often exists between parcel size and unit 
value. 

Shape and Topography Primary physical factors that affect the utility of a site for its highest 
and best use. 

Flood Plain Impacts of flood plain on a site. 

 

Item V.C. 164



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 25 

 

Analysis and Adjustment of Sales 

Our analysis of the comparable sales is described in the following paragraphs. 
 
Sale 1 occurred in January of 2020 and involved a 9.627 acre tract of land located at 3918 Almeda 
Genoa Road, Houston, TX. The grantor in this transaction was Kai Man Won (Marian) Jue, Trustee. The 
grantee was Eve – Almeda Genoa, LP. Consideration involved in this sale was $2.54 per square foot. 
When comparing this sale to the Subject Property, downward adjustments were considered necessary 
to account for the Subject Property’s inferior location, larger land size, and inferior flood plain 
characteristics. 

Sale 2 occurred in June of 2019 and involved a 9.506 acre tract of land located at 1826 O’Day Road, 
Pearland, TX. The grantors in this transaction were Orlin W. McClain, Melody McClain, and Jose 
Miranda. The grantees were Mala Gopal and Thandavarajan Gopalakrishnan. Consideration involved 
in this sale was $1.24 per square foot. When comparing this sale to the Subject Property, a downward 
adjustment was considered necessary to account for the Subject Property’s larger land size. 
 
Sale 3 occurred in May of 2019 and involved a 5.00 acre tract of land located along the west line of 
Roy Road, north of FM 1128. The grantors in this transaction were Barbara Ann Bogan, Billy Clifton 
Long Jr., and Brian Keith Long. The grantee was Cyriac Mani. Consideration involved in this sale was 
$1.03 per square foot. When comparing this sale to the Subject Property, downward adjustments 
were considered necessary to account for the Subject Property’s inferior location and larger land size.  
 
Sale 4 occurred in October of 2017 and involved a 15.5143 acre tract of land located at 7429 Fite Road, 
Pearland, TX. The grantor in this transaction was Signature, Eubanks & Associates, Ltd. The grantee 
was WB Pearland, LLC. Consideration involved in this sale was $1.74 per square foot. When comparing 
this sale to the Subject Property, downward adjustments were considered necessary to account for 
the Subject Property’s inferior location and inferior flood plain characteristics.  

Item V.C. 165



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 26 

 

Land Value Conclusion-Subject Property 

The comparable sales summarized in the preceding chart reflect an unadjusted sale price range of 
$1.03 to $2.54 per square foot.  After the application of adjustments, the indicated per unit market 
value for the fee simple interest in the Subject Property (Land Only), as of May 12, 2020 is $1.25 per 
square foot.   

Based on the Subject Property size of 620,672 SF, the Subject Property has a market value calculated 
as follows: 
 
Market Value of Subject Property – Land Only 

Land: 14.2487 Acres (620,672 SF) x $1.25/SF: $ 775,840 
Value of Subject Property:  $ 775,840 
 

Reconciliation and Conclusion of Value 
Reconciliation involves the analysis of alternative value indications to determine a final value 
conclusion.  The values indicated by the traditional approaches are as follows: 
 

Cost Approach N/A 

Sales Comparison Approach – Land Only  $775,840 

Sales Comparison Approach - Improved N/A 

Income Capitalization Approach N/A 

 
Based on the foregoing analyses and conclusions, and subject to the definitions, assumptions, and 
limiting conditions expressed in this report, it is our opinion that the market value of the fee simple 
estate of the Subject Property, as of the date of appraisal is: 

 
$775,840 

 
IMPORTANT MARKET CONDITIONS WARNING: Market Uncertainty from Novel Coronavirus (COVID-
19) 
  
The outbreak of the Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19), declared an outbreak by the World Health 
Organization (WHO) on January 30, 2020 and subsequently reclassified as a worldwide pandemic on 
March 11, 2020, has created substantial uncertainty in the worldwide financial markets.  Concerns 
about the ongoing spread of the COVID-19 (Corona) Virus have resulted in cancellations of a 
substantial number of business meetings, conferences, and sporting and entertainment events in the 
coming 3-6 months; the implementation of personal quarantine procedures; a 30-day lock-out for 
travel from most of Europe to the U.S.; and substantial reductions (and restrictions) in other travel by 
air, rail, bus, and ship. 
  

Item V.C. 166



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 27 

 

As of the effective date of this report, tourism, lodging, and tourist-related food and beverage and 
retail sectors are likely to feel the first negative effects due to the substantial decline in social 
movement and activity.  A prolonged outbreak could have a significant (and yet unquantifiable) impact 
on other real estate sectors.  Our valuation is based upon the best information as of the effective 
date.   
  
Given the degree of overall uncertainty present in the economy, forecasts and projections contained 
herein may change dramatically, or differently than projected under stable market conditions.  
Therefore, we recommend a more frequent review of this valuation, and advise the intended user to 
consider the current lack of overall economic stability in evaluating the use and reliability of the 
opinions expressed herein.  

Exposure Time 

Exposure time is the length of time the Subject Property would have been exposed for sale in the 
market had it sold on the effective valuation date at the concluded market value. Exposure time is 
always presumed to precede the effective date of the appraisal. Based on our review of recent sales 
transactions for similar properties and our analysis of supply and demand in the local market, it is our 
opinion that the probable exposure time for the subject at the concluded market value stated 
previously is 12 months. 

Marketing Time 

Marketing time is an estimate of the amount of time it might take to sell a property at the concluded 
market value immediately following the effective date of value. As we foresee no significant changes 
in market conditions in the near term, it is our opinion that a reasonable marketing period for the 
subject is likely to be the same as the exposure time. Accordingly, we estimate the subject’s marketing 
period at 12 months. 

 

Item V.C. 167



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 28 

 

Certification 

We certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief: 

1. The statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct. 

2. The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions are limited only by the reported 
assumptions and limiting conditions, and are our personal, impartial, and unbiased 
professional analyses, opinions, and conclusions. 

3. We have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this report 
and no personal interest with respect to the parties involved. 

4. The persons signing this report have not appraised the Subject Property within the three-year 
period immediately preceding acceptance of this assignment. 

5. We have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of this report or the parties 
involved with this assignment. 

6. Our engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon the development or reporting of 
predetermined results. 

7. Our compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon the development or 
reporting of a predetermined value or direction in value that favors the cause of the client, the 
amount of the value opinion, the attainment of a stipulated result, or the occurrence of a 
subsequent event directly related to the intended use of this appraisal. 

8. Our analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared, 
in conformity with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice as well as 
applicable state appraisal regulations. 

9. The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this report has been 
prepared, in conformity with the Code of Professional Ethics and Standards of Professional 
Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Institute. 

10. The use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute relating to 
review by its duly authorized representatives. 

11. Michael W. Welch, SR/WA, R/W-AC, MRICS and Erica R. Ries made a personal inspection of 
the property that is the subject of this report.  

12. Lindsay Butler provided significant real property appraisal assistance to the person(s) signing 
this certification. Ms. Butler assisted in data gathering and report generation. 

13. We have experience in appraising properties similar to the subject and are in compliance with 
the Competency Rule of USPAP. 

 

Item V.C. 168



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 29 

 

14. As of the date of this report, Michael W. Welch, SR/WA, R/W-AC, MRICS has completed the 
continuing education requirements for Practicing Affiliates of the Appraisal Institute. 

 

 

 

 
Michael W. Welch, SR/WA, R/W-AC, MRICS 
Certified General Real Estate Appraiser 
Texas Certificate # TX-1323054-G 
Telephone: 713-973-0212, ext. 13 
Email: Michael.Welch@irr.com 

 Erica R. Ries 
Certified General Real Estate Appraiser 
Texas Certificate # TX-1380168-G 
Telephone: 713-973-0212, ext. 34 
Email: Erica.Ries@irr.com 

 

Item V.C. 169



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 30 

 

Assumptions and Limiting Conditions 

This appraisal and any other work product related to this engagement are limited by the following 
standard assumptions, except as otherwise noted in the report: 

1. The title is marketable and free and clear of all liens, encumbrances, encroachments, 
easements and restrictions. The property is under responsible ownership and competent 
management and is available for its highest and best use. 

2. There are no existing judgments or pending or threatened litigation that could affect the value 
of the property. 

3. There are no hidden or undisclosed conditions of the land or of the improvements that would 
render the property more or less valuable. Furthermore, there is no asbestos in the property. 

4. The revenue stamps placed on any deed referenced herein to indicate the sale price are in 
correct relation to the actual dollar amount of the transaction. 

5. The property is in compliance with all applicable building, environmental, zoning, and other 
federal, state and local laws, regulations and codes. 

6. The information furnished by others is believed to be reliable, but no warranty is given for its 
accuracy. 

This appraisal and any other work product related to this engagement are subject to the following 
limiting conditions, except as otherwise noted in the report: 

1. An appraisal is inherently subjective and represents our opinion as to the value of the 
property appraised. 

2. The conclusions stated in our appraisal apply only as of the effective date of the appraisal, and 
no representation is made as to the effect of subsequent events. 

3. No changes in any federal, state or local laws, regulations or codes (including, without 
limitation, the Internal Revenue Code) are anticipated. 

4. No environmental impact studies were either requested or made in conjunction with this 
appraisal, and we reserve the right to revise or rescind any of the value opinions based upon 
any subsequent environmental impact studies. If any environmental impact statement is 
required by law, the appraisal assumes that such statement will be favorable and will be 
approved by the appropriate regulatory bodies. 

5. Unless otherwise agreed to in writing, we are not required to give testimony, respond to any 
subpoena or attend any court, governmental or other hearing with reference to the property 
without compensation relative to such additional employment. 

6. We have made no survey of the property and assume no responsibility in connection with 
such matters. Any sketch or survey of the property included in this report is for illustrative 
purposes only and should not be considered to be scaled accurately for size. The appraisal 

 

 

Item V.C. 170



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 31 

 

covers the property as described in this report, and the areas and dimensions set forth are 
assumed to be correct. 

7. No opinion is expressed as to the value of subsurface oil, gas or mineral rights, if any, and we 
have assumed that the property is not subject to surface entry for the exploration or removal 
of such materials, unless otherwise noted in our appraisal. 

8. We accept no responsibility for considerations requiring expertise in other fields. Such 
considerations include, but are not limited to, legal descriptions and other legal matters such 
as legal title, geologic considerations such as soils and seismic stability; and civil, mechanical, 
electrical, structural and other engineering and environmental matters. Such considerations 
may also include determinations of compliance with zoning and other federal, state, and local 
laws, regulations and codes. 

9. The distribution of the total valuation in the report between land and improvements applies 
only under the reported highest and best use of the property. The allocations of value for land 
and improvements must not be used in conjunction with any other appraisal and are invalid if 
so used. The appraisal report shall be considered only in its entirety. No part of the appraisal 
report shall be utilized separately or out of context. 

10. Neither all nor any part of the contents of this report (especially any conclusions as to value, 
the identity of the appraisers, or any reference to the Appraisal Institute) shall be 
disseminated through advertising media, public relations media, news media or any other 
means of communication (including without limitation prospectuses, private offering 
memoranda and other offering material provided to prospective investors) without the prior 
written consent of the persons signing the report. 

11. Information, estimates and opinions contained in the report and obtained from third-party 
sources are assumed to be reliable and have not been independently verified. 

12. Any income and expense estimates contained in the appraisal report are used only for the 
purpose of estimating value and do not constitute predictions of future operating results. 

13. If the property is subject to one or more leases, any estimate of residual value contained in 
the appraisal may be particularly affected by significant changes in the condition of the 
economy, of the real estate industry, or of the appraised property at the time these leases 
expire or otherwise terminate. 

14. Unless otherwise stated in the report, no consideration has been given to personal property 
located on the premises or to the cost of moving or relocating such personal property; only 
the real property has been considered. 

15. The current purchasing power of the dollar is the basis for the values stated in the appraisal; 
we have assumed that no extreme fluctuations in economic cycles will occur. 

16. The values found herein are subject to these and to any other assumptions or conditions set 
forth in the body of this report but which may have been omitted from this list of Assumptions 
and Limiting Conditions. 

17. The analyses contained in the report necessarily incorporate numerous estimates and 
assumptions regarding property performance, general and local business and economic 

Item V.C. 171



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 32 

 

conditions, the absence of material changes in the competitive environment and other 
matters. Some estimates or assumptions, however, inevitably will not materialize, and 
unanticipated events and circumstances may occur; therefore, actual results achieved during 
the period covered by our analysis will vary from our estimates, and the variations may be 
material. 

18. The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) became effective January 26, 1992. We have not 
made a specific survey or analysis of the property to determine whether the physical aspects 
of the improvements meet the ADA accessibility guidelines. We claim no expertise in ADA 
issues, and render no opinion regarding compliance of the subject with ADA regulations. 
Inasmuch as compliance matches each owner’s financial ability with the cost to cure the non-
conforming physical characteristics of a property, a specific study of both the owner’s financial 
ability and the cost to cure any deficiencies would be needed for the Department of Justice to 
determine compliance. 

19. The appraisal report is prepared for the exclusive benefit of the Client, its subsidiaries and/or 
affiliates. It may not be used or relied upon by any other party. All parties who use or rely 
upon any information in the report without our written consent do so at their own risk. 

20. No studies have been provided to us indicating the presence or absence of hazardous 
materials on the subject property or in the improvements, and our valuation is predicated 
upon the assumption that the subject property is free and clear of any environment hazards 
including, without limitation, hazardous wastes, toxic substances and mold. No 
representations or warranties are made regarding the environmental condition of the subject 
property. Integra Realty Resources – Houston, Integra Realty Resources, Inc., Integra Strategic 
Ventures, Inc. and/or any of their respective officers, owners, managers, directors, agents, 
subcontractors or employees (the “Integra Parties”), shall not be responsible for any such 
environmental conditions that do exist or for any engineering or testing that might be 
required to discover whether such conditions exist. Because we are not experts in the field of 
environmental conditions, the appraisal report cannot be considered as an environmental 
assessment of the subject property. 

21. The persons signing the report may have reviewed available flood maps and may have noted 
in the appraisal report whether the subject property is located in an identified Special Flood 
Hazard Area. We are not qualified to detect such areas and therefore do not guarantee such 
determinations. The presence of flood plain areas and/or wetlands may affect the value of the 
property, and the value conclusion is predicated on the assumption that wetlands are non-
existent or minimal. 

22. Integra Realty Resources – Houston is not a building or environmental inspector. Integra 
Houston does not guarantee that the subject property is free of defects or environmental 
problems. Mold may be present in the subject property and a professional inspection is 
recommended. 

23. The appraisal report and value conclusions for an appraisal assume the satisfactory 
completion of construction, repairs or alterations in a workmanlike manner. 

24. Integra Realty Resources – Houston, an independently owned and operated company, has 
prepared the appraisal for the specific intended use stated elsewhere in the report. The use of 

Item V.C. 172



Brazoria County Drainage District No. 4 Page 33 

 

the appraisal report by anyone other than the Client is prohibited except as otherwise 
provided. Accordingly, the appraisal report is addressed to and shall be solely for the Client’s 
use and benefit unless we provide our prior written consent. We expressly reserve the 
unrestricted right to withhold our consent to your disclosure of the appraisal report or any 
other work product related to the engagement (or any part thereof including, without 
limitation, conclusions of value and our identity), to any third parties. Stated again for 
clarification, unless our prior written consent is obtained, no third party may rely on the 
appraisal report (even if their reliance was foreseeable).  

25. The conclusions of this report are estimates based on known current trends and reasonably 
foreseeable future occurrences. These estimates are based partly on property information, 
data obtained in public records, interviews, existing trends, buyer-seller decision criteria in the 
current market, and research conducted by third parties, and such data are not always 
completely reliable. The Integra Parties are not responsible for these and other future 
occurrences that could not have reasonably been foreseen on the effective date of this 
assignment. Furthermore, it is inevitable that some assumptions will not materialize and that 
unanticipated events may occur that will likely affect actual performance. While we are of the 
opinion that our findings are reasonable based on current market conditions, we do not 
represent that these estimates will actually be achieved, as they are subject to considerable 
risk and uncertainty. Moreover, we assume competent and effective management and 
marketing for the duration of the projected holding period of this property. 

26. All prospective value opinions presented in this report are estimates and forecasts which are 
prospective in nature and are subject to considerable risk and uncertainty. In addition to the 
contingencies noted in the preceding paragraph, several events may occur that could 
substantially alter the outcome of our estimates such as, but not limited to changes in the 
economy, interest rates, and capitalization rates, behavior of consumers, investors and 
lenders, fire and other physical destruction, changes in title or conveyances of easements and 
deed restrictions, etc. It is assumed that conditions reasonably foreseeable at the present 
time are consistent or similar with the future. 

 

Item V.C. 173



Addenda 

 

Addendum A 

Appraiser Qualifications 

Item V.C. 174



 

 

Michael W. Welch, SR/WA, R/W-AC, MRICS 
 

Experience 
 
Michael Welch is the Managing Director for Integra Realty Resources, Houston, Texas. 
Mr. Welch has been involved in the Real Estate appraisal and consulting field for more 
than 30 years and is known nationally for his expertise involving large-scale 
infrastructure projects. He has conducted initial route studies, cost analysis, impact 
studies and valuations for more than 2,500 miles of linear projects including pipelines, 
electrical transmission lines, rail corridors, drainage facilities and major transportation 
roadways. Additionally, Mr. Welch has been involved in appraisal matters, consulting 
and project management in all 50 states and in more than 150 Texas counties.  He has 
provided litigation services and expert witness testimony for properties involved in 
various county courts of law, district, state and federal courts. 

 

Professional Activities & Affiliations 
 
International Right of Way Association (IRWA), Member- SR/WA, R/W-AC 
Appraisal Institute, Associate Member 
Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors, Member (MRICS) 
Integra Realty Resources Former Chairman of the Board and CEO 
Integra Realty Resources Associates Council 
JLL, Former Head of Valuation & Advisory, Americas 
JLL, Global Valuation & Advisory Board, Former Member 
IRWA Young Leadership Council, Former Chairman 
The Appraisal Foundation Industry Advisory Council, Former Member 
Qualified before numerous courts and administrative bodies 

 
Licenses 
 
Michigan, Certified General Real Estate Appraiser, 1201075901, Expires July 2020 
Mississippi, Certified General Real Estate Appraiser, GA-1331, Expires September 2021 
New York, Certified General Real Estate Appraiser, 112232, Expires January 2021 
Pennsylvania, Certified General Real Estate Appraiser, GA004053, Expires June 2021 
Tennessee, Certified General Real Estate Appraiser, 5681, Expires August 2021 
Texas, Certified General Real Estate Appraiser, TX-1323054-G, Expires November 2020 

 
Education 
 
Bachelor, Arts the University of Houston 
 
In excess of 250 hours of other continuing education course work 

 

Integra Realty Resources 

Houston 

9225 Katy Freeway 
Suite 206 
Houston, TX 77024 

T 713-973-0212 
F 713-973-2028 

irr.com 

Michael.Welch@irr.com  -  713-973-0212 x13 

Item V.C. 175



 

 

Erica R. Ries 
 

Experience 
 
Erica Ries is an Associate Director for Integra Realty Resources, Houston, 
Texas. Ms. Ries has more than 15 years of valuation experience focused on 
large scale infrastructure projects.  In addition to valuation activities, Ms. 
Ries has managed and coordinated projects involving more than 10,000 
acquisitions for all types of projects including pipelines, electrical 
transmission lines, rail corridors, drainage facilties and major transportation 
roadways.  Additionally, Ms. Ries has participated in the valuation of 
complex valuation issues involved in litigation assignments throughout the 
United States.   

 

Professional Activities & Affiliations 
 

Qualified before courts and administrative bodies in Texas County Courts: 
Harris, Fort Bend 

 
Licenses 
 
Texas, Certified General Real Estate Appraiser, TX-1380168-G, Expires August 2020 

 
Education 
 

• Bachelor, Business Administration, Texas State University 
(Major: Finance) 

 
• Real Estate Appraisal Courses Completed: 

o UASFLA – The Yellow Book 
o 15 Hour USPAP Course 
o Basic Appraisal Principles 
o Basic Appraisal Procedures 
o General Appraiser Site Evaluation and Cost Approach 
o General Appraiser Sales Comparison Approach 
o General Appraiser Income Approach (Parts I and II) 
o General Appraiser Market Analysis and Highest and Best Use 
o General Appraiser Report Writing and Case Studies 
o Statistics, Modeling and Finance 
o Commercial Appraisal Review 
o Residential Appraiser Site Valuation and Cost Approach 

 

Integra Realty Resources 

Houston 

9225 Katy Freeway 
Suite 206 
Houston, TX 77024 

T 713-973-0212 
F 713-973-2028 

irr.com 

Erica.Ries@irr.com  -  713-973-0212 x34 

Item V.C. 176



 

 

About IRR 

Integra Realty Resources, Inc. (IRR) provides world-class commercial real estate valuation, counseling, 
and advisory services. Routinely ranked among leading property valuation and consulting firms, we are 
now the largest independent firm in our industry in the United States, with local offices coast to coast 
and in the Caribbean. 

IRR offices are led by MAI-designated Senior Managing Directors, industry leaders who have over 25 
years, on average, of commercial real estate experience in their local markets. This experience, 
coupled with our understanding of how national trends affect the local markets, empowers our clients 
with the unique knowledge, access, and historical perspective they need to make the most informed 
decisions. 

Many of the nation's top financial institutions, developers, corporations, law firms, and government 
agencies rely on our professional real estate opinions to best understand the value, use, and feasibility 
of real estate in their market. 

Local Expertise...Nationally! 

irr.com 
 

Item V.C. 177



Addenda 

 

Addendum B 

Property Information 

Item V.C. 178



Addenda 

 

Aerial Map 

  

Item V.C. 179



Addenda 

 

Flood Map 

 

Item V.C. 180



Addenda 

 

Tax Record 

 

Item V.C. 181



Addenda 

 

 

Item V.C. 182



Addenda 

 

 

Item V.C. 183



Addenda 

 

 

Item V.C. 184



Addenda 

 

 

 

Item V.C. 185



Addenda 

 

 

Item V.C. 186



Addenda 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Item V.C. 187



Addenda 

 

Deed 

 

Item V.C. 188



Addenda 

 

 

 

Item V.C. 189



Addenda 

 

 

Item V.C. 190



Addenda 

 

 

Item V.C. 191



Addenda 

 

 

Item V.C. 192



Addenda 

 

 

Item V.C. 193



Addenda 

 

Item V.C. 194



Addenda 

 

Addendum C 

Comparable Sales Data 

Item V.C. 195



Addenda 

 

Land Sale #1 

 

 Date of Sale: 01/13/2020 
 

 County: Harris 
 

 Recording Data: 2020-20543 
 

 Grantor: Kai Man Won (Marian) Jue, Trustee 
 

 Grantee: Eve - Almeda Genoa, LP 
 

 Location: 3918 Almeda Genoa Road, Houston, TX 
 

 Size: 9.627 Acres (419,352 SF) 
 

 Price: $2.54/SF 

 

Land Sale #2 

 

 Date of Sale: 06/07/2019 
 

 County: Brazoria 
 

 Recording Data: 2019-026972 
 

 Grantor: Orlin W. McClain, Melody McClain, and 
Jose Miranda 
 

 Grantee: Mala Gopal and Thandavarajan 
Gopalakrishnan 
 

 Location: 1826 O’Day Road, Pearland, TX 
 

 Size: 9.506 Acres (414,081 SF) 
 

 Price: $1.24/SF 

 

Item V.C. 196



Addenda 

 

Land Sale #3 

 

 Date of Sale: 05/23/2019 
 

 County: Brazoria 
 

 Recording Data: 2019-024539 
 

 Grantor: Barbara Ann Bogan, Billy Clifton Long Jr., 
and Brian Keith Long 
 

 Grantee: Cyriac Mani  
 

 Location: West line of Roy Road, north of FM 1128 
 

 Size: 5.00 Acres (217,800 SF) 
 

 Price: $1.03/SF 

Land Sale #4 

 

 Date of Sale: 10/20/2017 
 

 County: Brazoria 
 

 Recording Data: 2017-051994 
 

 Grantor: Signature, Eubanks & Associates, Ltd. 
 

 Grantee: WB Pearland, LLC 
 

 Location: 7429 Fite Road, Pearland, TX 
 

 Size: 15.5143 Acres (675,803 SF) 
 

 Price: $1.74/SF 

 

Item V.C. 197



Addenda 

 

Comparable Land Sales Map 

 
 

Item V.C. 198



 
May 8, 2020 
 
 
Board of Commissioners 
c/o Adrian Gengo 
Brazoria Drainage District No. 4 
4813 West Broadway 
Pearland, Texas 77581 
cc: agengo@bdd4.org 
 
RE:  Charleston Development 
 Variance Request 
 BDD 4 Ref ID#: 20149 
 LE-20004 
 
Dear Commissioners: 
 
We are in receipt of the attached request for variance from Mark Hodges of Odyssey 
Engineering Group on behalf of their Client. 
 
Request # 1 
 
The first request cites the District’s requirement for 22” x 34” plan sheets and request permission 
to deviate and use 24” x 36” which is the requirement for other agencies who must review and 
approve the plans.   
 
We offer no objection to this request. 
 
Request # 2 
 
The second request cites the District’s requirement for detention pond maintenance berms to be 
unencumbered by any permanent improvements.  Due to an executed development agreement 
with the City of Pearland, the Developer is required to place a tree buffer along the east edge of 
the detention pond to shield neighboring development to the east. 
 
The following additional information may be useful in determining whether or not this request 
should be granted: 
 

1. The executed agreement between the City and the Developer is attached for your 
review.   

2. The Developer proposes tree to be placed in a serpentine arrangement within the 
outer 9 feet of the 30 foot berm per the attached Tree Buffer Exhibit. 

3. Charleston Municipal Utility District will own and maintain the detention pond. 
 

We offer no objection to this request.  

  Engineering Your Satisfaction 

Item VI.A. 199



Request # 3 
 
The third request cites the District’s requirement for detention pond to have 4:1 side slopes.  The 
Applicant is requesting permission to use 3:1 side slopes for the wet portion of the detention 
pond only. 
 
The following additional information may be useful in determining whether or not this request 
should be granted: 
 

1. The Geotechnical Engineer has recommended the placement of a 2 foot thick clay 
liner in the wet portion of the detention basin. 

2. Charleston Municipal Utility District will own and maintain the detention pond. 
 

We offer no objection to this request. 
 
Based upon these findings and the applicant’s hardship, we would support a Board decision to 
grant these variance requests. 
 
Sincerely,  
Lentz Engineering, LLC 
 
 
 
 
Jarrod D. Aden, P.E. 
President 
 
cc: Mr. John Genaro 

Mr. Leigh Blumer 
Ms. Sarah Roeber 

 Mr. Clint Goebel 
 Mr. Dillon Wilburn 
 Mr. Tom Daniel 

Item VI.A. 200



P:\16-006-100\Docs\Letters\16006100-01 - BCDD4 Variance Request (20200414).docx 

April 15, 2020 

 

Jarrod D. Aden, P.E., C.F.M.: 

11511 N. Garden St. 

Houston, Texas 77071 

 

Re: Variance Request Letter 

 Charleston Ultimate Detention   

 Charleston Municipal Utility District 

 Odyssey Project No. 16-006-100-DST 

  

 

Dear Mr. Aden, 

 

Please accept this variance request letter for Charleston Ultimate Detention (Subject 

Project).  Each of the three (3) below requests identifies the specific rule within the 

“Brazoria Drainage District No. 4 – Rules, Regulations, and Guidelines” manual, the 

hardship created in application of the rule for the Subject Project, and the specific request 

for variance.  Relevant documents are attached to this letter for your reference: 

 

Variance Request #1 - Regarding [IV.A, Page 12]: Use standard engineering scales, properly 

identified on each drawing.  Sheet size 22” X 34” is required. 

 

The Subject Project is uniquely situated within seven (7) reviewing agency’s jurisdiction 

including: Brazoria County, Brazoria Drainage District #4, City of Pearland, Fort Bend 

County, Fort Bend County Drainage District, City of Arcola and Texas Department of 

Transportation (TxDOT).  As the project has been submitted to the agencies for 

review/approval, it will be difficult to prepare plans on the 22” X 34” sheet size and 

maintain uniformity for all agencies. 

 

We request approval to utilize 24” X 36” plan sheet size for the Subject Project in 

order to maintain uniformity with all reviewing agencies. 

 

Variance Request #2 – Regarding [Appendix A.3.4.1.f, Page 64]: Maintenance berms shall 

not be encumbered by any other permanent improvements, easements, fee strips, or right-of-

way. 

 

The Subject Project is beholden to terms defined in the attached executed development 

agreement between the City of Pearland and Charleston CMI, LTD (Resolution No. 

R2016-148).  The agreement includes specifications for mitigative improvements 

including a tree buffer to be placed along proposed detention facilities adjacent to 

residential development.   

Item VI.A. 201



 

 

 

Mr. Jarrod D. Aden, P.E., C.F.M.: 

April 15, 2020 

 

P:\16-006-100\Docs\Letters\16006100-01 - BCDD4 Variance Request (20200414).docx 

The attached “Tree Buffer Exhibit” graphically details the serpentine tree arrangement 

to be placed in the outer nine feet (9-ft) of the maintenance berm between the backslope 

swale project’s eastern boundary.  The proposed arrangement will provide 

approximately twenty-one feet (21-ft) of unencumbered maintenance berm and 

approximately fifteen feet (15-ft) of maintenance access between the basin high bank 

and backslope swale. 

 

The tree buffer shall be maintained by Charleston Municipal Utility District (District).  

Should the District be annexed into the City of Arcola, Charleston HOA or the City of 

Arcola will assume responsibility of maintenance.  

 

We request approval to construct tree buffer within the detention basin’s 

maintenance berm as stipulated in the development agreement. 

 

Variance Request #3 – Regarding [Appendix A.3.4.1.a, Page 64]: Side slopes shall be 4:1 or 

greater. 

 

Construction plans for the Subject Project propose 4:1 side slope for the detention 

portion (above permanent water pool) and 3:1 side slope for the amenity portion 

(below permanent water pool) of the detention basins.  The amenity portion of the 

basins shall incorporate a clay liner conforming to geotechnical engineering 

specifications provided for the project, providing improved slope stability. 

 

We request approval to utilize 3:1 side slope for the clay lined amenity portion of 

the proposed detention basins. 

 

Should you require any additional information, please feel free to contact the undersigned.  

 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 

Mark C. Hodges, P.E., ENV SP 

Assistant Project Manager 

 

Attachments: City of Pearland Development Agreement (Resolution No. R20016-148) 

  Tree Buffer Exhibit 

  Clay Liner Recommendation  

Item VI.A. 202



Item VI.A.

BD
D

4 
Bo

un
da

ry

203



2500 Tanglew
ilde Street, Suite 480

H
ouston, Texas 77063

t: 281.306.0240 | w
w

w
.odysseyeg.com

TB
PE N

o. F-17637

D
ISC

LAIM
ER

: N
O

 W
AR

R
AN

TY O
R

R
EPR

ESEN
TATIO

N
 O

F IN
TEN

D
ED

 U
SE D

ESIG
N

O
R

 PR
O

PO
SED

 IM
PR

O
VEM

EN
TS AR

E M
AD

E
H

ER
EIN

. ALL PLAN
S FO

R
 LAN

D
 O

R
 FAC

ILITIES
AR

E SU
BJEC

T TO
 C

H
AN

G
E W

ITH
O

U
T N

O
TIC

E.

BRAZORIA DRAINAGE DISTRICT No. 4

Item VI.A. 204



Item VI.A. 205



Item VI.A. 206



Item VI.A. 207



Item VI.A. 208



Item VI.A. 209



Geotechnical 
Construction Materials 
Environmental 
TBPE Firm No. 813 

6513 W. Little York Road 
Houston, Texas 77040 

Tel: 713-360-0460 
Fax: 713-360-0481 
www.alphatesting.com

Dallas • Ft. Worth • San Antonio • Houston 

July 1, 2019 

Academy Development 
10410 Windermere Lakes Blvd  
Houston, Texas 77065 

Attention: Mr. Bob Devillier 

 Re: Supplemental Design Information 
Detention Pond Liner at Charleston MUD 
Waste Water Treatment Plant 

 Off State Highway 6 
Arcola, Texas 
ALPHA Report No. H182655A 

ALPHA TESTING, INC. previously performed a geotechnical exploration for the above 
referenced project (ALPHA Report No. H182655 dated January 28, 2019).  This supplemental 
report provides recommendations for the proposed clay liner for the detention pond. 
Recommendations for the proposed detention pond was not within the scope of work for the 
referenced geotechnical report.  As requested by the Client, the following pond liner 
recommendations provided in this supplemental report were developed using information from 
the referenced geotechnical report.  That is, no additional field or laboratory data was obtained or 
authorized for this evaluation.  This letter should be considered an addendum to the referenced 
geotechnical report and should not be considered separately from that report. 

Clay Liners 

Based on the nearby borings, it is possible silty sands or other granular soils relatively high 
permeability could be encountered in the pond excavation.  A clay liner should be provided in 
areas where it is required to retain water.  We recommend a minimum liner thickness of 2 ft. 

The on-site clay soils can be used as clay liner material for the portions of the basins where a 
sufficient thickness of native clays are not present (generally 2 ft thick).  The clay liner should 
extend from the bottom of the ponds to at least the top of the planned water level.  In general, 
clay liner material should have the following properties: 

Hydraulic Conductivity:  Less than 1 x 10-7 cm/sec
 Liquid Limit:    ≤ 60 
 Plasticity Index:   20 – 45 
 Percent Passing No. 200 Sieve: 65 or greater 
 Pinhole Dispersion Test Method A: ND1 – ND2 

Item VI.A. 210



Item VI.A. 211



11511 N. Garden St.  Houston, Texas 77071  Phone: (713) 839-8900  Fax (713) 839-9020  www.lentzengineering.net 

TBPE Registration No. F-1378 

 
May 26, 2020 
 
 
Board of Commissioners 
c/o Adrian Gengo 
Brazoria Drainage District No. 4 
4813 West Broadway 
Pearland, Texas 77581 
cc: agengo@bdd4.org 
 
RE:  Segenhof 
 Variance Request 
 BDD 4 Ref ID#: 20145 
 LE-20004 
 
Dear Commissioners: 
 
We are in receipt of the attached request for variance from Kristofer Schoeffler. 
 
The variance cites the District’s requirement for the dedication of a 170 foot total width drainage 
easement for Hickory Slough.  Due to the Slough’s location along the West side of Roy Road, 
the Applicant would have to dedicate the 170 foot drainage easement in it’s entirety. 
 
The Applicant is seeking approval from the Board reducing the requirement to a 30 foot drainage 
easement as measured from the centerline of the creek and an additional (adjacent) 20 foot 
access easement. 
 
The Applicant states his hardship(s) in detail in the attached request for variance. 
 
District staff and I have researched this issue, visited the site, and met with Mr. Schoeffler in 
person. 
 
Based upon our findings and discussions with District personnel, we would support a Board 
decision to reduce the required drainage easement width from 170 feet in total width to a 85 foot 
drainage easement as measured from the existing centerline of Hickory Slough. 
 
  

  Engineering Your Satisfaction 

Item VI.B. 212



11511 N. Garden St.  Houston, Texas 77071  Phone: (713) 839-8900  Fax (713) 839-9020  www.lentzengineering.net 

TBPE Registration No. F-1378 

Sincerely,  
Lentz Engineering, LLC 
 
 
 
 
Jarrod D. Aden, P.E. 
President 
 
cc: Mr. John Genaro 

Mr. Leigh Blumer 
Ms. Sarah Roeber 

 Mr. Clint Goebel 
 Mr. Dillon Wilburn 
 Mr. Tom Daniel 

Item VI.B. 213



May 21, 2020 

 

Jarrod - 

Thank you again for spending time with me on Tuesday.  I appreciate the questions you 
answered and the offer that was made by DD4 staff with your support.   

I have formulated my variance request and it is as follows: 

 

Whereas, I am being required to re-plat property that has been a homestead of my family since 
1976 because I wish to replace the existing home with a new home; and, 

Whereas, the City of Pearland has declined to recognize my existing plat because we were 
annexed into the city limits in 1997 and the existing plat predates that annexation; and, 

Whereas, I have been informed by DD4 staff that the current statutes require that I cede a 170' 
easement along Hickory Slough to DD4 that should be in addition to the 40' ROW dedication 
required by the City of Pearland; and, 

Whereas, DD4 staff has offered to support a reduction of the easement requirement to be 85' total 
width measured from the center of the stream; and, 

Whereas, the current bed of Hickory Slough lies completely upon my property and extends west 
from the center of the stream approximately 30' at its widest; and, 

Whereas, to my knowledge, DD4 does not have contiguous easement and cannot likely gain 
contiguous easement to the south of my property along the same waterway; and, 

Whereas, my neighbors, the Post family, were not required to dedicate easement to DD4 for the 
same purpose despite the same statutes being in effect and thus now have a new home within the 
85' proposed easement; and, 

Whereas, permanent structures that are still in use on my property are located within the 85' 
proposed easement and there is no established time-frame to remove those structures; and, 

Whereas, DD4 has plans and is actively pursuing funding to divert water away from the portion 
of Hickory Slough that currently lies upon my property; and, 

Whereas, Hickory Slough has remained unchanged for decades and has functioned as such; and, 

Whereas, due to encumbrances placed upon my property by the City of Pearland and DD4, more 
than 30% of my acreage will be unsuitable for improvement and use as I see fit; and, 

Whereas, this amounts to an unreasonable and unfair requirement to be placed upon a single 
home-owner, especially given the heirloom status of the property in question;  

Item VI.B. 214



Therefore, I request that DD4 accept an easement of 30' measured from the center of the stream 
and an additional 20' access easement onto the property for bank maintenance. 

 

Please let me know if this will suffice or if you have any questions.  Thank you again. 

 

 

Kris Schoeffler 

Deus caritas est. 

Item VI.B. 215



Item VI.B. 216



 
 
 
May 8, 2020 
 
 
Board of Commissioners 
Brazoria Drainage District No. 4 
4813 W. Broadway 
Pearland, Texas 77581 
via email: kwoodall@bdd4.org 
 
RE:  Manvel Town Center 
 Waterline Interconnect 

Final Drainage Plan (4) 
 BDD 4 Ref ID#: 20122 
  LE-20004 
 
Dear Commissioners: 
 
We have reviewed the Final Drainage Plan as submitted for the above-mentioned project and 
offer the following comments: 
 

1. This Drainage Plan is for a proposed waterline interconnect located on the North side of 
Highway 6 on both sides of SH-288. 

2. The project proposes no impervious cover.  No detention is required.  
3. BDD4 Special Notes are included on the plans. 
4. We find the Drainage Plan to be in accordance with the Rules, Regulations and Guidelines 

effective May 1, 2013. 

We support a decision by the Board to approve this drainage plan. 

 
Sincerely 
Lentz Engineering, LLC 

 
Jarrod D. Aden, P.E. 
President 
 
cc: Mr. John Genaro 

Mr. Leigh Blumer 
Ms. Sarah Roeber 

 Mr. Clint Goebel 
 Mr. Dillon Wilburn 
 Mr. Tom Daniel 

  Engineering Your Satisfaction 

Item VII.A. 217



Item VII.A. 218



Item VII.A. 219



11511 N. Garden St.  Houston, Texas 77071  Phone: (713) 839-8900  Fax (713) 839-9020  www.lentzengineering.net 

TBPE Registration No. F-1378 

 
 
May 12, 2020 
 
Board of Commissioners 
c/o Adrian Gengo 
Brazoria Drainage District No. 4 
4813 West Broadway 
Pearland, Texas 77581 
cc: agengo@bdd4.org 
 
RE:  JT Plaza III 
 Final Plat 
 BDD 4 Ref ID#: 20160 
 LE-20004 
 
Dear Commissioners: 
 
We have reviewed the recent submittal of the Final Plat as submitted for the above-mentioned 
project.  No District facilities are within or adjacent to this tract therefore no District easements 
are needed. 
 
Finally, District personnel are handling the review of other administrative aspects of the plat 
which has been submitted to the District office. 
 
Based upon our findings, we support a decision by the Board to approve the plat.  If you have 
any questions or require any further information, please do not hesitate to call.  
 
Sincerely,  
Lentz Engineering, LLC 
 
 
 
 
Jarrod D. Aden, P.E. 
President 
 

Ms. Sarah Roeber 
 Mr. Clint Goebel 
 Mr. Tom Daniel 
  
 

  Engineering Your Satisfaction 

Item VII.B. 220



Item VII.B. 221



Item VII.B. 222



11511 N. Garden St.  Houston, Texas 77071  Phone: (713) 839-8900  Fax (713) 839-9020  www.lentzengineering.net 

TBPE Registration No. F-1378 

 
 
May 8, 2020 
 
Board of Commissioners 
c/o Adrian Gengo 
Brazoria Drainage District No. 4 
4813 West Broadway 
Pearland, Texas 77581 
cc: agengo@bdd4.org 
 
RE:  Menon Enclave 
 Final Plat 
 BDD 4 Ref ID#: 20153 
 LE-20004 
 
Dear Commissioners: 
 
We have reviewed the recent submittal of the Final Plat as submitted for the above-mentioned 
project.  No District facilities are within or adjacent to this tract therefore no District easements 
are needed. 
 
Finally, District personnel are handling the review of other administrative aspects of the plat 
which has been submitted to the District office. 
 
Based upon our findings, we support a decision by the Board to approve the plat.  If you have 
any questions or require any further information, please do not hesitate to call.  
 
Sincerely,  
Lentz Engineering, LLC 
 
 
 
 
Jarrod D. Aden, P.E. 
President 
 

Mr. John Genaro 
Mr. Leigh Blumer 
Ms. Sarah Roeber 

 Mr. Tom Daniel 
  
 

  Engineering Your Satisfaction 

Item VII.C. 223



Item VII.C. 224



Item VII.C. 225



 
 
 
May 26, 2020 
 
 
Board of Commissioners 
Brazoria Drainage District No. 4 
4813 W. Broadway 
Pearland, Texas 77581 
via email: agengo@bdd4.org 
 
RE:  Southern Colony II Detention Phase I 

Drainage Plan (2) 
 BDD 4 Ref ID#: 20101 
 LE-20004 
 
Dear Commissioners: 
 
We have reviewed the Final Drainage Plan as submitted for the above-mentioned project and 
offer the following comments: 
 

1. This Drainage Plan is for a proposed detention development located near the District 
Boundary at the West end of Alloy Road. 

2. Sheet 8 of the Drainage Plan shows that the phase 1 detention will provide 268.74 acre-
feet of detention mitigation for the 229.77 acres of future residential development.  The 
detention rate provided is 1.16 acre-feet / acre.  

3. BDD4 Special Notes are included on the plans. 
4. We find the Drainage Plan to be in accordance with the Rules, Regulations and Guidelines 

effective May 1, 2013. 

We support a decision by the Board to approve this drainage plan.  We recommend that the Board 
approve only the portion of the project that is within the District’s boundary. 

 
Sincerely 
Lentz Engineering, LLC 

 
Jarrod D. Aden, P.E. 
President 
 
cc: Mr. John Genaro 

Mr. Leigh Blumer 
Ms. Sarah Roeber 

 Mr. Clint Goebel 
 Mr. Dillon Wilburn 
 Mr. Tom Daniel 
 

  Engineering Your Satisfaction 

Item VII.D. 226



Item VII.D.

BD
D

4 
Bo

un
da

ry

227



Item VII.D. 228



 
 
 
May 26, 2020 
 
 
Board of Commissioners 
Brazoria Drainage District No. 4 
4813 W. Broadway 
Pearland, Texas 77581 
via email: agengo@bdd4.org 
 
RE:  Greenspace 

2075 Kingsley Drive 
 Pearland, Texas 
 FINAL Drainage Plan (3) 
 BDD 4 Ref ID#: 20161 
 Parent Ref ID#: 19143 
 LE-20004 
 
Dear Commissioners: 
 
We have reviewed the Final Drainage Plan as submitted for the above-mentioned project and 
offer the following comments: 
 

1. This Drainage Plan is for a proposed commercial development located on the East side of 
Kingsley Drive and South of Shadow Creek Parkway. 

2. Detention is provided as per the previously approved master plan for Shadow Creek Ranch.  
A note to this effect is on the plan.  

3. BDD4 Special Notes are included on the plans. 
4. We find the Drainage Plan to be in accordance with the Rules, Regulations and Guidelines 

effective May 1, 2013. 

We support a decision by the Board to approve this drainage plan. 

 
Sincerely 
Lentz Engineering, LLC 

 
Jarrod D. Aden, P.E. 
President 
 
cc: Mr. John Genaro 

Mr. Leigh Blumer 
Ms. Sarah Roeber 

 Mr. Clint Goebel 
 Mr. Dillon Wilburn 
 Mr. Tom Daniel 
 

  Engineering Your Satisfaction 

Item VII.E. 229



Item VII.E. 

BDD4 Boundary

230



Item VII.E. 231


	June 2, 2020 - AGENDA
	III. - May 5 Minutes
	V.A. - Single Audit Report
	V.B. - Land Purchase_20.03 ac
	V.C. - Land Purchase_14.2487 ac
	VI.A. - 20149_VR
	VI.B. - 20145_VR
	VII.A. - 20122_DP
	VII.B. - 20160_PLAT
	VII.C. - 20153_PLAT
	VII.D. - 20101_DP
	VII.E. - 20161_DP



